# KOREAN NEEDS ASSESSMENT OF THE BAY AREA 2014-2015





#### AUTHORS:

Ivey, S., Lee, J., Kim, H., Tseng, W., Hwang, N., Yoo, E., Cha, D., Kim, C., Kim, T., Shon, Y., Yang, H.

© 2016 Korean Community Center of the East Bay/ Health Research for Action Korean Needs Assessment of the Bay Area (KoNA Bay Area) Published in January 2016

For questions and additional copies, please contact KCCEB at 510-547-2662 or junelee@kcceb.org. You may also obtain a PDF file copy of this report online at www.kcceb.org.

## **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgement
Executive Summary
Part 1. Main Needs Assessment Module
Introduction and Background Limited English Proficiency Health Access and Literacy Cancer Mental Health Tobacco
Methods Sample Instrument Survey Administration Statistical Analysis
Main Needs Assessment Results Demographics Civic Engagement Health Insurance Health Conditions and Health Behaviors Health Care Utilization Korean Physician Preferences Health Communication Cancer Screening

Violence Module	27
Introduction	27
Methods	27
Mental Health / Intimate Partner Violence Results	28
Demographics	28
Serious Psychological Distress (SPD) Measured	
by Kessler Scale	29
Past-Year Functional Impairment Due to	20
Cognitive Impairment: Confusion or Memory Loss	30
Social Context	31
Mental Health (MH) Illness and Stigma	31
Emotional Support and Life Satisfaction	32
Mental Health Care Utilization	32
Prevalence of Intimate Partner Violence (IPV)	32
Secondhand Smoke Exposure by Sex	33
Part 3. Discussion	34
LEP and Health Literacy	36
Mental Health	38
Direct and Secondhand Smoke Exposure	40
Cardiovascular Disease	43
Women's Health	45
Citizenship and Civic Engagement	47
Strengths & Limitations of Assessment	49 52
Part 4. Recommendations	53
References	60

G

-



## Acknowledgement

#### SPECIAL THANKS TO:

#### **Authors**

Susan Ivey, June Lee, Hyunju Kim, Winston Tseng, Nhayoung Hwang, Eugenia Yoo, Denny Cha, Christin Kim, Thomas Kim, Yeri Shon, Hyunjin Yang

A special recognition to Hyunju Kim, PhD candidate at Johns Hopkins School of Public Health, who worked countless hours analyzing and translating data, and Dr. Susan L. Ivey and Dr. Winston Tseng at Health Research for Action at University of California, Berkeley, for their guidance.

#### Volunteer Health Interpreters Organization

Nhayoung Hwang, Denny Cha, Eugenia Yoo, Christin Kim, Thomas Kim, Young Shin Choi

#### **KCCEB Staff & Volunteers**

June Lee, Yeri Shon, Hyunjin Yang, Hee Jeong Matz, Susan Duggan, Juhee Kwon, Dongmyung Lim

#### Advisory Council

Ellen Ahn, J.D., M.S.W., Executive Director, Korean Community Services Ruben Cantu, Program Director, California Pan-Ethnic Health Network Sophia Chang, MD, MPH, VP of Programs, California HealthCare Foundation Jin Kim, PhD/ Post-Doctoral Fellow, Dept. of Psychiatry, UCSF Beatrice Lee, MPA/President, Racial & Ethnic Mental Health Disparities Coalition Jen Lee, MPH/ Director of Community Services and Partnerships, Associations of Asian Pacific Community Health Organizations Taeku Lee, PhD/ Professor, Dept. of Political Science, UC Berkeley Rod Lew, MPH/Executive Director, Asian Pacific Partners for Empowerment, Advocacy, and Leadership Michael J. Minzenberg, MD/ Associate Professor, Dept. of Psychiatry, UCSF Myron Dean Quon, Esq., Executive Director, NAPAFASA Cary Sanders/Director of Policy Analysis, California Pan-Ethnic Health Network Janice Tsoh, PhD/Associate Professor, Dept. of Psychiatry, UCSF Doreena Wong, JD/Project Director - Health Access Project, Asian Americans Advancing Justice Grace J. Yoo, Ph.D., MPH/ Professor & Chair, Asian American Studies,San Francisco State University

#### **KCCEB** Board of Directors

Dong Suh, Sarah Ihn, Michelle Chen, Jennifer Choo, Joanne Cho, Rev. Hyok-In Kwon, YoonSun Choi

## Acknowledgement

#### Community Validation Task Force (partial list)

Asian Americans for Community Involvement Asian American Recovery Services, a Program of HealthRight 360 Asian Community Mental Health Services Asian Health Services Asian Immigrant Women Advocates **Bill Wilson Center** Community Health for Asian Americans East Bay Refugee Forum Family Bridges Filipinos Advocates for Justice International Rescue Committee Momentum for Mental Health Sacred Heart Community Service Silicon Valley De-Bug Service Immigrant Rights and Education Network (SIREN) Stanford Asian Liver Center Street Level Health Project Vision New America Asian Pacific Islander Council (San Francisco)



Koreans are the fifth-largest group among Asian Americans nationwide and in California, with a total U.S. population of about 1.7 million, and more than 500,000 in California (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). They also make up the sixth-largest Asian population in the San Francisco Bay Area, with nearly 90,000 people. Compared with the overall population, Koreans have unique socio-demographic characteristics and health and social needs. Despite this presence, very few needs assessments have been conducted with this population. The most recent one in the San Francisco Bay Area was conducted more than 10 years ago, and only in Alameda and Santa Clara counties (Lee, Kazinets, & Moskowitz, 2006).

This study is a collaboration between the Korean Community Center of the East Bay (KCCEB) and the Health Research for Action (HRA) center at UC Berkeley, to assess the health and social needs of the Korean community in the Bay Area (Alameda, Contra Costa, San Francisco, Santa Clara, and San Mateo counties), in order to determine the best intervention strategies and programs to improve the overall health of Korean Americans.

Our sample population was primarily first-generation Korean Americans who have lived in the United States more than 15 years; however, a majority of them have limited English Proficiency (85%). This adds unique value to inform the design of programs and policies, as it reflects issues of a vulnerable population that are beneficiaries of government and privately-funded programs. While the group has relatively high education (79% have 12 years or greater education), there are low levels of employer-sponsored health insurance (33%) and relatively high levels of Medi-Cal eligibility (18%). In addition, despite high levels of citizenship status (64%), our sample population was largely unaware of their health and civil rights as a US citizen – only a quarter of those eligible were registered to vote, and only half reported being familiar with patients' rights under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA).

This comprehensive report highlights priority issues identified by the study: 1) Limited English Proficiency (LEP) and Health Literacy, 2) High Levels of Serious Psychological Distress and Low Mental Health Service Utilization, 3) Direct and Secondhand Smoke Exposure, 4) Barriers and Opportunities to Citizenship and Civic Engagement, 5) Intimate Partner Violence (IPV), 6) Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Unhealthy Lifestyles, and 7) Deeper Disparity among Women and Elderly.

The results from our survey revealed that Bay Area Koreans are faced with significant health disparities. Bay Area Koreans had substantially higher rates of fair to poor health (45%) than the state average (19%). A number of self-reported chronic condition rates were worse for Bay Area Koreans than California Koreans in California Health Interview Survey included higher prevalence of diabetes, hypertension, and heart disease. Rates of smoking for men (16%) were more than five times higher than Bay Area Korean women (3%), and demonstrated a critical need to address smoking issues among Korean men as well as second-hand smoke exposure for Koren women. Rates of individuals who have never had certain

## **Executive Summary**

cancer screenings were also high, with a lack of preventive screenings for all the cancers we asked about (cervical, breast and colorectal). Bay Area Koreans also have higher serious psychological distress (SPD) (18%) and functional impairment rates than California Koreans (5%) and other racial groups in California. In addition, we found that Bay Area Koreans (19%) are more likely to state they were victims of IPV than the state average (16%).

Despite these prominent health issues, Bay Area Koreans have low health care utilization. Language barriers may have contributed to this situation, as more than a third of our participants have difficulty communicating with their physicians due to language, and nearly 80% preferred a doctor who can speak Korean. Bay Area Koreans also used alternative sources to health care, as many get health information and health care from sources such as the Internet, friends or relatives. Improved health literacy will help Koreans fully benefit from their existing health plans or through the Affordable Care Act.

Some of these issues are shared with Koreans in southern California, as demonstrated through our study and the 2007 Orange County Study by Korean Community Services. However, some regional characteristics and differences in Northern California have implications for intervention and prevention strategies. For example, while 86% of southern California's Korean population resides in Los Angeles and Orange counties (62% and 24%, respectively), Koreans in Northern California are spread across 5 counties (Alameda 25%, Contra Costa 13%, San Francisco 14%, San Mateo 9%, and Santa Clara 39%), and these more dispersed Bay Area Korean communities that have varying characteristics in terms of history of immigration, assimilation, culture, and economic status. There is less inter-county mobility in daily lives between these Northern California counties. As Northern California doesn't have a single county with a dense Korean population center, it is extremely challenging to realize a centralized service location for health access located within a single county that nonetheless services Koreans across 5 counties. Such geographical spread also makes Koreans less visible, and creates challenges for mobilizing and implementing effective place-based strategies. The Korean Community Center of the East Bay is based in Oakland, the county seat of Alameda County, and has been the only agency serving Koreans across the 5 counties, providing social and health services, immigration integration services, including the needs of undocumented population, and domestic violence services since 1977. Our experience in service, education, advocacy, and community resource development with unique regional challenges has also positioned us to try creative and innovative strategies. Some of these strategies are presented in our recommendations, and below are some highlights:

• Lack of Korean language healthcare providers is one of the largest barriers to healthcare access therefore, Covered CA and other health plans should expand provider networks to include bilingual Korean physicians and other healthcare professionals.



## **Executive Summary**

- Federal, state, and local governments need to create meaningful public-private partnerships that take advantage of the assets of the Korean-serving community-based organizations (CBO) in designing culturally and linguistically appropriate materials and delivering culturally and linguistically appropriate services;
- Expand collaboration beyond traditional Western models of healthcare, and partner with holistic and alternative systems of healthcare (e.g., acupuncture, traditional Asian medicine) in conjunction with primary care; also expand coverage to include traditional healing practices and other alternative healthcare services;
- Create federal and state funding streams to support building of a community health workers (CHW) network beyond clinical settings, based on an empowerment model to improve health literacy;
- Increase efficacy of Prevention and Early Intervention (PEI) funding by 1) employing culturally-relevant innovative strategies that engage in attitude change via participatory process and experiential learning; 2) diversifying investment in community-based organizations and other relevant entities, beyond traditional mental health service providers;
- Achieve Tobacco-Related Health Equity Among Priority API Populations by: 1) institutionalizing health equity by investing in the collection of disaggregated data to examine unique ethnic communities like Korean Americans; and 2) funding priority populations to implement evidence-based, culturally and linguistically relevant intervention and prevention strategies;
- Invest in culturally and linguistically appropriate, comprehensive civic engagement tracking programs.

It is our hope that the information presented in this report will guide strategic planning, direct policy and advocacy efforts, and promote robust partnerships and innovative strategies, incorporating unique regional challenges and opportunities, to better meet the needs of Korean communities in the Bay Area.

We would like to thank all the team members who spent countless hours with dedication to improving the lives of Koreans in the Bay Area, Advisory Council members who generously dedicated their expertise and time, and community-based agencies who participated in the community validation process.

GmmyLee

June Lee Executive Director Korean Community Center of the East Bay

The first wave of Korean immigration to the United States started in 1902 and continued until 1905. Those first immigrants were farmers and laborers who came to Hawaiian sugar plantations to work. The second wave arrived between 1906 and 1945 and was made up of war orphans, students, and spouses of American GIs (Yoon, 2012). However, a majority of Koreans currently living in America arrived later, emigrating for better economic and educational opportunities after the United States abolished the use of quotas by national origin through the Immigration and Nationality Act of 1965 (Kim, 1981). Consequently, many Korean immigrants in the United States are first-generation immigrants, born in Korea, who still identify more as Koreans in America than Korean Americans (Jo & Doorenbos, 2009). Since 93% of our main survey participants responded that they were born in Korea, the report primarily uses *Koreans* to refer to the population, rather than *Korean Americans*.



Asian Americans (AA) made up the fastest growing racial group in the United States from 2000 to 2010, with Koreans increasing by 39% (Asian Pacific American Legal Center & Asian American Justice Center, 2011).

Koreans are the fifth largest group among Asian Americans nationwide, with a population of about 1.7 million, as well as in California, with a population of more than 500,000. They also make up the sixth largest Asian population in the San Francisco Bay Area, with nearly 90,000 people (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010).

Compared with the overall population, Koreans have unique socio-demographic characteristics. Data combining the American Community Survey (ACS) data from 2011 to 2013 show that the percentage of Korean Americans (KA) in California who are foreign-born was twice that of non-Hispanic Whites: more than 50% of Koreans were first-generation immigrants. Thirteen percent of Koreans in California were seniors (age 65 years or over). About 84% of Koreans in California reported speaking

a language other than English at home. In addition, nearly half of Koreans surveyed had limited English proficiency (LEP) (U.S. Census Bureau, 2013). In California, the median household income was substantially lower for Koreans (\$55,000) than for non-Hispanic Whites (\$62,000) (U.S. Census Bureau, 2013). For our local Korean population, we also sought to identify the needs of this target population of LEP, low-income Korean adults.

Despite concerns about health and health care needs in the San Francisco Bay Area's Korean community, very few needs assessments have been conducted with this population. The most recent one was conducted more than 10 years ago, and only in Alameda and Santa Clara counties (Lee, Kazinets, & Moskowitz, 2006). By defining a clear, shared goal, we have mobilized the San Francisco Bay Area Korean community to define the key health disparities they face and strengthen the ability of the community infrastructure to improve the health of the Korean community.

#### Population

by Ethnic Group, Bay Area 2010

Ethnic Group	Number
Chinese (except Taiwanese)	630,467
Filipino	457,857
Indian	264,533
Vietnamese	205,766
Japanese	109,879
Korean	86,497
Taiwanese	34,095
Native Hawaiian	19,385
Cambodian	16,024
Pakistani	15,368
Samoan	14,770
Laotian	14,288
Thai	12,388
Tongan	12,083
Guamanian or Chamorro	11,249
Fijian	10,153
Burmese	8,778
Indonesian	8,119
Nepalese	3,277
Sri Lankan	2,280
Malaysian	2,095
Bangladeshi	1,980
Hmong	1,523
Bhutanese	410
Marshallese	99

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2010 Census SF1 Tables QT-P8 and QT-P9.

Bay Area Koreans have some shared issues with Koreans in southern California, as demonstrated through our study and the 2008 Orange County Study by Korean Community Services. However, some regional characteristics and differences have implications for intervention and prevention strategies. For example, while 86% of southern California's Part 1. Main Needs Assessment Module INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Korean population resides in Los Angeles and Orange counties (62% and 24%, respectively), Koreans in northern California are spread around 5 counties (Alameda 25%, Contra Costa 13%, San Francisco 14%, San Mateo 9%, and Santa Clara 39%), that have different characteristics in terms of their history of immigration, assimilation, culture, and economic status. There is less inter-county mobility in daily lives between these northern counties. As northern California doesn't have a single county with a dense Korean population center, it is extremely challenging to realize a centralized service location for health access, such as a Korean-speaking hospital unit, for example, despite the role of limited English proficiency as one of the largest barriers for health access. Such geographical spread also makes Koreans less visible, and creates challenges to mobilize and implement effective place-based strategies. The Korean Community Center of the East Bay is based in Oakland, the county seat of Alameda county, and has been the only agency serving Koreans from 5 counties in over 50 zip codes, providing social and health services, immigration integration services (including the needs of undocumented populations and domestic violence victims), and education, advocacy and communitybased resource development since 1977. Our direct experience with our regional challenges has also positioned us to try creative and innovative strategies. Some of these strategies are presented in our recommendations.

Below are some overarching issues among Koreans in California found in previous studies. In this report, we demonstrate how our findings confirm and identify new issues among Koreans in the Bay Area, especially among immigrant populations that need assistance in accessing federally funded and privately offered programs and activities in the health care and diverse social support systems.

#### Limited English Proficiency (LEP)

Many Koreans in California have limited English proficiency (LEP); language barriers pose challenges to health care access and health status. Individuals with LEP are defined as those "who are unable to communicate effectively in English because their primary language is not English and they have not developed fluency in the English language." A recent California Health Interview Survey (CHIS) data showed that Koreans have a high rate of LEP (76%) compared to other major Asian subgroups and Latinos (Vietnamese 86%, Chinese 68%, Japanese 51%, Filipino 39%, South Asians 35% and Latino 72%). Such a high prevalence of LEP is of concern, as research showed that individuals with both LEP and low health literacy have high rates of poor health status (Sentell & Braun, 2012). Another systematic review reported that parental LEP was associated with worse health care access and quality for children with special health care needs (Eneriz-Wiemer, Sanders, Barr & Mendoza, 2014). These results suggest that LEP may affect not only the individual's health but also the health of their families.

## Part 1. Main Needs Assessment Module INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

#### Health Access and Literacy

Koreans are among the least likely to be insured of any racial/ethnic group in California: 47% of Koreans are uninsured all or part of the year; California's overall rate was 27% in 2012 (California Health Interview Survey, 2011-2012). Koreans also have the lowest rate of employer-sponsored health insurance (34%), compared with other Asian racial groups, such as Chinese (59%), Japanese (56%), Filipino (65%), and Vietnamese (41%), and in comparison to non-Hispanic Whites (55%) (California Health Interview Survey, 2011-2012). Research shows that "foreign-born, non-Englishspeaking immigrants, those with a lower level of education, and the elderly are disproportionately affected by low health literacy" (Nielsen-Bohlman, Panzer, & Kindig, 2004). Several studies have also identified language and cultural factors related to low health literacy, perceived discrimination, and misinformation about eligibility as reasons for not having health insurance or for inadequate health care utilization (Asian & Pacific Islander American Health Forum, 2015; Lee, Avers & Kronenfeld, 2009). A study of Koreans found that those who had difficulty with English had issues understanding and using health information (Kim, Kim, Choi, Song, & Han, 2015).

#### Cancer

In addition to the above-mentioned health care disparities such as less access to health insurance and health services, other health disparities in areas such as cancer are prominent among Koreans and other Asian Americans (AA) across the U.S. (Gomez et al., 2013). Previous studies from California show AA to be the only racial group for which cancer is the leading cause of death (26%), and Koreans have the highest rate of deaths from cancer (32%) (California Department of Public Health, 2015). Lung and bronchus cancer were responsible for the greatest number of cancer-related deaths among Koreans in California, followed by colorectal cancer (California Department of Public Health, 2008).



Since 1990, Asian Americans in the U.S. have experienced a continuous increase in their incidence of breast cancer, whereas the incidence of breast cancer declined for non-Hispanic Whites over the same period. Korean women experienced the highest annual percentage increase (4.7%) among all AA groups from 1990 to 2008. Koreans also had the highest colorectal cancer rates, higher than or comparable to that of non-Hispanic Whites. Korean men in particular had the highest age-adjusted colorectal cancer rates (58.2 per 100,000) among all AA groups from 2004 to 2008, higher than the incidence among non-Hispanic White men (54.0 per 100,000). Over the same period, the colorectal cancer incidence among Korean women (40.9 per 100,000) was similar to the incidence among non-Hispanic White women (40.6 per 100,000) (Gomez et al., 2013). Overall, in comparing cancer rates between Korean and non-Hispanic White groups, the Korean group had

rates of breast, colorectal, and liver cancer greater than or comparable to the non-Hispanic Whites across sex, age, and cancer types.

#### Mental Health

Mental health is another major underexplored area of study for Koreans. The prevalence of depression among Koreans in the United States is high, with studies reporting rates from 39% in Los Angeles to 24% in New York (Lee, Moon, & Knight, 2004; Mui & Kang, 2006). In California, Korean adults (5%) reported the highest rates of serious psychological distress among AA adults, with Korean seniors reporting four and a half times the rate of serious psychological distress (9%) compared with the California state average (2%). (Tseng et al., 2010) This rate is higher than that of all other racial/ethnic groups except American Indian/Alaska Native seniors. These findings suggest mental health is a serious issue among Koreans, particularly for Korean seniors.

One study looking at mental health care utilization found that health insurance status was one of the factors that enabled hospitalizations among Korean elders (Jang, Kim, & Chiriboga, 2005). Personal beliefs influenced by culture and acculturation were also associated with service utilization, as older adults with shorter residence in the U.S. had negative perceptions of mental health services (Jang, Kim, Hansen, & Chiriboga, 2007). These data are concerning, given the percentage of the elderly who are first-generation immigrants and who may need but not be accessing mental health services.

#### Tobacco

Smoking and secondhand smoke (SHS) are important health issues among Koreans in the U.S. A study found that a third of Korean American men who participated in CHIS 2001 and 2003 were smokers, while less than 10 percent of Korean American women were smokers (An, Cochran, Mays & McCarthy, 2008). Recent data show that Korean Americans were one of the highest risk populations for smoking (17%); and Korean males (23%) along with Vietnamese males have the highest smoking rates among Asians in California (California Department of Public Health, 2015a; California Health Interview Survey, 2011). Data also show that Korean females have high rates of exposure to secondhand smoking. A study analyzing the CHIS data revealed that nonsmoking Korean Americans had the highest home SHS exposure prevalence (16.5%) of all populations, almost 5 times higher than for non-Hispanic Whites (Tsoh et al., 2015).

#### Sample

The Korean health needs assessment study (KoNA Bay Area) sample was obtained through convenience sampling, using Korean community lists and community sites for recruitment of participants. Data collection for the main needs assessment survey module was completed before the mental health survey module's data collection began.

The in-person surveys for the main needs assessment survey module were conducted at Korean churches that KCCEB visited for Affordable Care Act (ACA) education outreach events, at KCCEB's office, small business associations, and at other Korean community centers throughout the San Francisco Bay Area. The same survey instrument was used for conducting telephone interviews among individuals sampled from two contact lists from KCCEB. One list contained contacts of people who had attended ACA outreach sessions: the other list held contacts for clients served in the past at KCCEB. Each contact was called and asked to participate in the telephone survey. If no one answered on the first call, we tried the number again at least three times.

The second list included a disproportionate number of older individuals compared with the first list. To avoid skewing our data toward older adults, we called every 10th person on the second list. Self-administered versions of the main survey module were completed by choice or at times when trained interviewers were unavailable. The survey was mailed to those who requested it (for example, an individual might refuse a telephone interview but agree to fill out a survey). An online survey for the main survey module was emailed to additional contacts provided by KCCEB. A total of 342 people participated in the main survey module: 178 completed the survey by self-administration, 78 with an interviewer (via telephone or in-person), and 86 used the online tool. The main needs assessment was conducted between July 2014 and February 2015.

For the mental health and intimate partner violence (MH/IPV) survey module, we conducted surveys with individuals who consented to participate from our main survey participants, current and past KCCEB clients, and a general supporter group. For in-person interviews, individuals were asked if they were interested in participating in the survey in advance. For telephone interviews, we used a list of phone numbers for individuals who were registered at KCCEB. This provided a list-driven convenience sample for data collection. A total of 111 people participated in the MH/IPV survey module.

#### Instrument

The study used two survey instruments: the main survey module, which was focused on general social, health, and health care characteristics; and the second, which focused on mental health and intimate partner violence (MH/IPV). We created the survey instruments using questions from the California Health Interview Surveys (CHIS) from 2009–2010 and 2011-2012, the Korean Community Needs Assessment from the Health and Quality of Life Survey conducted in Orange County in 2008, items from the Short Form 12 (SF-12) survey, and items designed by the HRA team specifically for this project. The SF-12 is a reliable, validated questionnaire that measures the mental and physical health of an individual through 12 questions (Ware, Kosinski, & Keller, 1996).

The main survey module had 39 questions covering demographic characteristics, health insurance, health status and behavior, health care access and usage, health communication, and cancer screening. The main survey included interviewer-administered (in-person or by telephone) and self-administered approaches (in person at an ACA site visit, or by mail), and later online, using Qualtrics survey software. The MH/IPV survey module was administered by interviewers, either in-person or by telephone. For this module, trained staff and students recorded participant responses online using Qualtrics. Both the main survey module and the MH/IPV module were available and conducted in either Korean or English.



#### Survey Administration

Four bilingual (English and Korean) staff members from KCCEB and six bilingual UC Berkeley undergraduate students were trained in human subject research and survey administration methods. Only these trained individuals administered the surveys. In addition, interviewers who administered the MH/IPV survey module received additional training on mental health and domestic violence before administering the MH/IPV survey.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

We merged in-person, telephone, mail, and online surveys using Microsoft Excel. To examine the characteristics of the sample, we computed frequencies and calculated percentages of all survey items. All open-ended items were coded deductively, where needed.

For self-rated health, smoking, and physical activity items, we stratified by sex because prior research suggested that smoking rates differ by sex among Asian Americans (with men more likely to smoke than are women) (Caraballo, Yee, Gfroerer, & Mirza, 2008). We examined heavy and light-to-moderate smoking. Heavy smoking was defined as ≥20 cigarettes per day, whereas lightto-moderate was <20 cigarettes per day (Husten, 2009; Mucha, Stephenson, Morandi, & Dirani, 2006; Szklo & Coutinho, 2009). We also calculated the percentages of heavy drinking (≥5 drinks on the same occasion on 5 or more days of the past 30 days) (National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, 2015). We also examined any differences in physical activity by sex. Similarly, for self-reported diabetes, high blood

Part 1. Main Needs Assessment Module MAIN NEEDS ASSESSMENT RESULTS

pressure and heart disease, we calculated both crude and age-adjusted prevalence rates using 2000 U.S. Census data as our standard population (U.S. Census Bureau, 2000). For cancer-screening items, we stratified by age to examine whether women met the guideline for receiving a Pap smear and a mammogram consistent with the current recommendations for screenings in their age group. We used STATA 12.0 to perform all statistical analyses (StataCorp LP, College Station, Texas).

#### **Demographics**

The results showed that the majority of the main survey participants were born in Korea (93%); only 7% were born in the United States (6%) or another country (1%). A high percentage of participants had lived in the United States for more than 15 years (73%), and almost two-thirds of the participants were U.S. citizens (64%). The primary languages spoken at home for survey participants included Korean (73%), followed by English (17%), and both Korean and English (9%). Most participants (85%) in our sample reported limited English proficiency (LEP).



# Household income was defined as a binary measure (less or more than \$50,000 per year). That showed that 56.3% reported a household income of ≤\$50,000, and 44% reported >\$50,000 annual income. The results show that many of the survey participants are employed for salary or wages (28%) or are self-employed (23%).

#### Table 1. Demographics

	Valid %
Sex (n=341)	
Male	40
Female	60
Language in which survey was conducted (n=342)	
Korean	83
English	17
Age (n=342, Mean and SD)	15
Age (n and percentages)	
< 50 years	43
≥ 50 years	57
Country of Birth (n=341)	
Korea	93
U.S	6
Other	1
Years living in the US (n=339, Mean and SD)	11
< 15 years	27
≥ 15 years	73
Language spoken at home (n=342, respondents can choose more than one option)	
Korean	73
English	17
Both	9
Other	2
Limited English Proficiency (Well, not well, not well at all, n=337)	85
Citizenship status (US Citizen, n=339)	64
Green card holders (n=122)	80
Household income (n=300)	
Poverty Level (Medi-Cal, n=293)	18
≤ \$50,000	56
> \$50,000	44
Equal to \$20K or less	26
\$20,001-\$30,000	9
\$30,001-\$40,000	10
\$40,001-\$50,000	11
\$50,001-\$60,000	9
\$60,001-\$70,000	5
\$70,001 or more	30
Education (n=338)	
< 12 years	5.6
12 years	15.7
> 12 years	78.7

Equal percentages of participants are retired or homemakers (14% each), whereas 9% of participants are currently out of work. For those who answered "Other," their jobs included cleaning, babysitting, dance teacher, Korean school teacher, and part-time jobs. When looking at students' employment status, more than half the student participants did not currently work (55%).

When we asked all employed participants about health benefits offered through their jobs, less than half of them answered that they receive such benefits from their jobs (45%). About a quarter (25%) of all participants received government assistance of some type.

Most participants in our survey were highly educated, with 79% having received postsecondary education (more than 12 years of education), 16% having 12 years of education, and 6% having fewer than 12 years of education.



Figure 2. Employment

## Part 1. Main Needs Assessment Module MAIN NEEDS ASSESSMENT RESULTS

Figure 3. Civic Engagement



#### **Civic Engagement**

In terms of civic engagement, of the survey participants who were U.S. citizens, about a quarter (25%) were not registered to vote. More than two-thirds of the total participants (68%) were not aware of Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) eligibility and not aware of the women's health provisions under the ACA (68%). Awareness of patients' rights under the ACA was also low, with almost half of the participants (47%) reporting a lack of familiarity. Two-fifths of participants (40%) answered that they do not trust the government always, most, or some of the time.

With regard to barriers that Korean immigrants face in becoming U.S. citizens, about half the participants indicated poor English language skills and lack of classes for English as a second language as the top barrier to citizenship they faced (51%). Lack of education and unfamiliarity with the U.S. political system was the next major barrier (36%), followed by unemployment and job issues (20%), lack of time and access to alternative childcare (15%), strong ties to home country (15%), and lack of transportation (5%). The participants who answered "Other" (14%) mentioned racism, cost, property in Korea, and inability to have dual citizenship as barriers to becoming U.S. citizens.

#### Table 2. Citizenship

Barriers to Becoming a US citizen (n=339)	Valid %
Lack of English language classes / citizenship classes Language barrier	51
Lack of education / unfamiliar with political system	36
Unemployment / jobs	20
Lack of time / childcare	15
Strong ties to home country	15
Lack of transportation	5
Other (e.g., racism, cost, property in Korea, dual citizenship not allowed, planning to return to Korea later, unsatisfying qualification)	14

#### Benefits of U.S. Citizenship (n=341)

Voting rights	58
Traveling abroad without need for visas or restrictions of length of stay	49
Access to government programs and assistance	41
Access to government jobs	30
Holding elective office	23
No benefits	4
Other (e.g., retirement benefit, education, financial aid, employment, citizen rights & protection, convenience, military issue, safety, social mobility)	12

Regarding the advantages of U.S. citizenship, more than half the participants chose voting rights as the number one benefit (58%). Traveling abroad without the need for visas or restrictions on length of stay was the second most popular benefit (49%), followed by access to government programs and assistance (41%), access to government jobs (30%), and holding elective office (23%). Participants who answered "Other" (12%) mentioned retirement benefits, access to an education opportunity, financial aid, an employment opportunity, and protection of citizens. Only 4% of the participants answered that having U.S. citizenship was not beneficial.

When participants were asked about involvement with groups or organizations, almost half answered that they were involved in a church, followed by Korean school (9%), and dry cleaners associations (4%). The remaining 41% of the participants listed names of various Korean-related and non-Koreanrelated groups.



#### Figure 4. Community Involvement

#### Health Insurance

About 16% of participants reported not having any health insurance. They reported multiple types of insurance. Of those who had health insurance (84%), most obtained it through their employer (33%), followed by Medicare (20%), and Medi-Cal (18%). The rest obtained insurance through school (7%), other government plans such as Healthy Families (3%), another government program (10%), or a nongovernment plan (6%). Only about 10% of those who had health insurance directly purchased their own health plan.

When uninsured participants were asked about the main reason for their lack of insurance, 70% answered that they could not afford to buy it. Eligibility (or lack of eligibility) was another reason participants mentioned (17%). Eligibility issues included working status, change of employer, loss of job, and citizenship or immigration status. In addition, 11 out of 63 participants (18%) who answered this question refused to give a reason, which may imply that insurance is a sensitive issue among those who do not have it.



Figure 6. Reasons Uninsured





Figure 5. Health Insurance

The majority of participants reporting insurance have private health insurance plans, such as Kaiser (32%), Anthem Blue Cross (18%), and Blue Shield (7%). In addition, 6% of the participants reported that their insurance plan is "ObamaCare." This ambiguous response may mean that they shopped on the Covered California health insurance website but may not be aware that the health insurance exchange includes government subsidies for many people. Many participants did not list the name of the product they purchased online. This could be due to the exchange's only going into effect as of 2014. Other plans mentioned included Dongbu, an insurance plan from Korea.

#### Table A. Health Plan

Name of Main Health Plan (n=205)	Valid %
Kaiser	32
Anthem Blue Cross	18
Medicare & Medi-Cal	9
Medicare	3
Medi-Cal (including Alameda Alliance)	6
Blue Shield	7
ObamaCare	6
United Health Care	4
НМО	4
Aetna	2
AARP	2
PPO	2
Christian Mutual Med-Aid	2
CIGNA	2
School insurance (e.g., SHIP, UC Davis Health plan)	2
Health Net	1
VA	1
Other (e.g., CMM, Contra Costa Health Plan, Dongbu, EPO, GGH, Health PAC, Liberty / SF Health Plan, Post Office Union, Public CA, Valley Care)	5
Unidentified / Don't know	6

#### Health Conditions and Health Behaviors

For self-rated health, a strong predictor of an individual's mortality and morbidity (Idler & Angel, 1990; Idler & Benyamini, 1997), 37% of the participants perceived their health as being fair or poor. When we stratified this measure by sex, we found that more women (43%) perceived their health as fair or poor than did men (29%). Eighteen percent of all respondents reported having diabetes. Most of these participants reported type 2 diabetes (47%), followed by diabetes during pregnancy (21%), and type 1 (17%). When we adjusted for age using the 2000 U.S. Census data, the age-adjusted prevalence of diabetes was 14%.

#### Table 3. Health Status

	Valid %
Self-rated health (fair/poor) (n=333)	37
Male (fair/poor) (n=133)	29
Female (fair/poor) (n=199)	43
Diabetes (yes, n=323)	18
Age-adjusted Diabetes (yes, n=323)	14
Of those who have diabetes	
Type 1 diagnosis	26
Type 2 diagnosis	69
Diabetes during pregnancy (n=144)	8
Other type	5
High Blood Pressure (yes, n=331)	31
Age-adjusted High Blood Pressure (yes, n=331)	25
Taking medication (yes, of n=101 with hypertension)	76
Heart disease (yes, n=331)	8
Age-adjusted Heart Disease (yes, n=331)	7



Almost one-third of the participants (31%) reported having high blood pressure. As with diabetes, when we adjusted for age the prevalence of high blood pressure decreased to 25%. Of those with high blood pressure, more than two-thirds (68%) took medication for their condition. The prevalence of self-reported heart disease was 8% in our population. After adjusting for age using 2000 U.S. Census data, the prevalence was 7%. Of the total number of respondents, 16% of Korean men smoke whereas for Korean women, the smoking rate was only 3%. Those who reported smoking, smoked an average of 23.7 days in a month and an average of 9 cigarettes per day. Eleven percent of smokers (n=3) were heavy smokers (≥20 cigarettes per day), and 2% of smokers smoked inside their homes each week. Among all respondents, 99% were aware of the consequences of secondhand smoking, but only 33% had been informed about smoking and/or secondhand smoking by a health care provider.



#### Figure 7. Smoking Across Both Sexes

In regard to alcohol consumption, a little less than half of participants (48%) had had one or more alcoholic drinks in the past month; the average was 5.9 days in a month and an average of 2.4 drinks per occasion. About 10% of drinkers were heavy drinkers ( $\geq$ 5 drinks on the same occasion on 5 or more days in the past 30 days).

#### Table B. Alcohol Consumption

	Valid %
Had Alcoholic Drink in the past month (yes, n=331)	48
# of drinks in a month	7
(of those who drink, <b>n=151</b> , Mean and SD)	/
# of drinks per occasion ( <b>n=167</b> , Mean and SD)	3
Heard about alcoholic drink from a health care provider (yes, n=306)	20
Heavy drinkers (n=103)	9

For physical activity, only 14% met the CDC recommendations for physical activity (after excluding two extreme values). Twelve percent of those who were 18–64 years old and 18% of those who were 65 or older met the CDC recommendations (150 minutes of moderate exercise per week). Overall, those who reported walking walked an average of three times per week, at an average of 53 minutes per walk and a median of 40 minutes per walk. Participants 18–64 years reported walking 3.5 times, compared to those 65 years or older, who walked on average 3.7 times per week. Those in the 18–64 age group averaged 52 minutes per walk, and those in the 65 and older group averaged 61 minutes per walk.

#### Table C. Physical Exercise

Physical Activity (n=331)	Valid %
Walk at least 10 min (yes, n=331)	80
Age 18 – 64 years old (yes, n=254)	78
Age 65 years old or more (yes, <b>n=77</b> )	90
Of those who walk	
# of times walked in a week (n=226, Mean and SD)	2
Age 21 – 64 years old ( <b>n= 166</b> , Mean and SD)	2
Age more than 65 years old ( <b>n=60</b> , Mean and SD)	2
Minutes of each walk (n=277, Mean and SD)	50
Age 21 – 64 years old (n= 211, Mean and SD)	47
Age more than 65 years old (n=66, Mean and SD)	50
Met the CDC guidelines (150 minutes per week) (yes, n= 277)	14
Age 18 – 64 years old (n=211, Mean and SD)	12
Age more than 65 years old ( <b>n=66</b> , Mean and SD)	18
Food Security (n=86)	
Food insecurity (Often true/Sometimes True, <b>n=74</b> )	16
Balanced Meal (Often true/Sometimes True, n=75)	23

#### Health Care Utilization

One-third of participants (33%) responded that they did not have a usual place to go for health care service. The average number of doctor visits in the past year was 2.3. Almost one-tenth of participants (9%) had visited the emergency department in the past year. Almost a third of the participants (31%) experienced delays in care.



#### Figure 8. Health Care Utilization

## Part 1. Main Needs Assessment Module MAIN NEEDS ASSESSMENT RESULTS



Alternative Healthcare Usage



Alternative health care was utilized by one-fourth of the participants, who had received health care from someone other than a physician or nurse. When participants were asked about types of alternative health care services they had received, acupuncture was the number one service reported (30%), followed by oriental medicine doctor (23%), massage therapy (15%), chiropractic (14%), physical therapy (12%), herbal medicine (7%), and mental health counseling (4%). Twenty-four out of 116 (21%) participants selected "Other," even though the health care service they mentioned was related to the Western medical care.





When participants who did not seek help were asked about their main reasons for delaying or not getting care, inconvenient office hours and lack of time were the common reasons (32%). Cost or lack of insurance was the next most common reason (31%), followed by language or cultural differences (9%), and lack of transportation (7%). Participants who answered "Other" reported that they were apprehensive about the outcome of their evaluation. Some also noted that they were either "lazy" or did not perceive a need for care.

#### Table D. Reasons for Delaying Care

Main Reason of Delaying or Not Getting the Care (n=105)	Valid %
Inconvenient office hours / no time	32
Cost or lack of insurance	31
Language / cultural difference	9
Lack of transportation	7
Other (e.g., scared to see the result, did not think that I needed to go to hospital, lazy)	21

#### Korean Physician Preferences

More than three-quarters of participants (78%) said they preferred a Korean-speaking doctor. When given the scenario of having to pay out of pocket to receive care from a Korean doctor, almost half the participants (46%) responded that they would still prefer to receive care from a Korean doctor. When given a scenario in which choosing care from a Korean doctor would prevent them from enrolling in a health plan, some of which mandate a list of doctors, 30% of participants said they would still choose to obtain care from a Korean doctor. This high rate could be explained by the fact that a third of our participants (33%) reported difficulty communicating due to a language barrier. In addition, of those who had English language difficulties, the vast majority (87%) reported that they needed help to understand the doctor.

#### Table 6. Korean Physician Preferences

	Valid %
Have a doctor that speaks Korean (yes, n=324)	53
Of those who have doctors who speak Korean	
Korean doctor is competent (yes, n=174)	83
Prefer a doctor who speaks Korean ( <b>yes, n=321</b> )	78
Of those who prefer doctors who speak Korean:	
Prefer to pay out of pocket for a Korean Doctor ( <b>yes, n=253</b> )	46
Prefer to receive care from a Korean Doctor even if it would prevent you from enrolling in a health plan (yes, n=245)	30
Difficulty communicating due to language	22
(yes, n=312)	33
Of those who had difficulty communicating:	
Needed help to understand doctors	87
(yes, n=104)	57

#### Health Communication

In terms of places where Koreans usually get most of their health information, responses indicated that the Internet was the number one source (51%), followed by friends or relatives (29%), family doctor or doctor's office (27%), newspaper (26%), hospital (25%), television (22%), insurance company (5%), and public library (1%). When asked about preferred places to get health information, half of the survey participants ranked their family doctor or doctor's office as their number one choice (51%), followed by the Internet (39%), hospital (35%), newspaper (20%), television (16%), friends or relatives (13%), insurance company (9%), and public library (3%). (Respondents could choose more than one option).

#### Figure 9. Health Communication



Figure 9a. Usual Sources for health information



#### **Cancer Screening**

Almost half the participants (47%) reported never receiving colorectal cancer screening. Among those aged 50 years or older, 24% reported never having received such screening. Of those who had been screened, more than two-fifths had received a colonoscopy (42%) or a fecal occult blood test (41%). More than one-quarter of participants (26%) were not very familiar or not at all familiar with the benefits of colorectal cancer screening.

When participants who were 50 or older and who had not had either colorectal cancer screening test were asked about the most important reason, half (50%) of the respondents answered that they had no reason, had never thought about the test, or had not heard about either test from their doctor. No time to get the test, laziness, and cost or an insurance issue were the next most common reasons (13% each), followed by no health problem (11%).

Among Korean women participants over age 21, 30% had never received a Pap smear. In addition, nearly one in five female participants who are 40 or over (18%) in our survey had never received a mammogram. We also examined whether women had had a breast exam by a doctor, and almost three-fifths of female participants (58%) replied that they did not get this examination. In addition, one in five female participants (20%) were not very familiar or not at all familiar with benefits of Pap smears, while more than one in eight female participants (13%) was not very familiar or not at all familiar with the benefits of mammography. When we asked female participants who had not had a Pap smear about the most important reason they hadn't, half of respondents did not know the test was needed (50%). Another reason given was that they had not had any problems (15%), followed by cost or an insurance issue (11%). When we asked female participants who had not had a mammogram within the past two years about the most important reason for their not having done so, about one-fourth reported cost as a reason (25%). No health problem (17%) and laziness (15%) were other common reasons, followed by no reason (13%), and no recommendation about a mammogram received from a doctor (8%).



Part 1. Main Needs Assessment Module MAIN NEEDS ASSESSMENT RESULTS

#### Table 7. Cancer Screening

	Valid %
Colorectal cancer screening (overall no, n=316)	47
Colorectal cancer screening (> 50 older, n=186)	24
Of those who received colorectal cancer screening	
Colonoscopy (yes, <b>n=316</b> )	42
Fecal or blood test (yes, n=316)	41
Familiar with benefits of colorectal cancer screening	26
(Not too familiar/ Not at all familiar, n=316)	20
Female Respondents only	
Received Pap smear (no, <b>n=185</b> )	30
More than 21 years old (no, n=185)	30
Received Mammogram (no, <b>n=190</b> )	27
More than 40 years old (no, n=153)	18
Doctor examination of lumps (no, n=189)	58
Familiar with benefits of Mammogram (Not too familiar/ Not at all familiar, <b>n=187</b> )	13
Familiar with benefits of Pap Smear (Not too familiar/ Not at all familiar, n=185)	20
No reason / never thought about it	21
Too expensive / no insurance / cost	19
Haven't had any problems	15
Put if off / laziness	12
Too young	11
Doctor didn't tell me I needed it	8
Didn't know I needed this type of test	1
Too painful, unpleasant, embarrassing	1
Other (e.g., did not want to get it, didn't have time, doubts about the safety & effectiveness, no interest, planning to have x-ray, too busy)	12
Most Important Reason for Not Having Pap Smear Test (n=46)	
Did not know that it is needed	50
Haven't had any problems	15
Cost / insurance	11
Other (e.g., no interest, had a limited time to get the screening in Korea during the time of stay there, too scared, no time)	9
Most Important Reason for Not Having Sigmoidoscopy or Colonoscopy (n=172, including all ages)	
No reason / never thought about it / doctors didn't tell me I needed it	52
Haven't had any problems	15
Cost / no insurance	8
No time / laziness	8
Too young	7
Don't know	1
Other (e.g., blood stool test result was normal, did not want to go to hospital)	2
Most Important Reason for Not Having Sigmoidoscopy or Colonoscopy Among the Group of People Who Are 50 or Older (n=62)	
No reason / never thought about it / doctors didn't tell me I needed it	50
No time / laziness	13
Cost / no insurance	13
Haven't had any problems	11
Don't know	2
Other (e.g., blood stool test result was normal, did not want to go to hospital)	5

Part 2. Mental Health (MH) and Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) Module

#### Introduction

Due to the high rates of psychological distress seen among Korean Americans in California, particularly in Korean seniors (Tseng, et al. 2010), KCCEB and HRA conducted an additional survey using a second module designed to assess mental health and intimate partner violence (MH/ IPV) issues among Koreans in the Bay Area. The sampling frame was also a convenience sample but was not the same as for the main survey module and was later in time. We used convenience sampling to recruit a total of 111 Korean American participants for this second survey module on MH/IPV.



#### **Methods**

From March to September 2015, we conducted another survey using a MH/IPV survey module for individuals who came to KCCEB for social services, such as immigration legal services and health care enrollment services. In addition, we conducted these surveys at general community outreach and education events.

Trained research assistants from HRA and KCCEB staff administered the survey in-person or by telephone, recording participants' answers in Qualtrics online survey software. To examine the characteristics of the sample, we examined the frequencies and calculated the percentages of all survey items. For secondhand smoking items, we stratified by sex, as women may be disproportionately exposed, given the higher rate of smoking among men.

For serious psychological distress, we used questions from the Kessler-6 (K6) scale. The survey questions inquired about the frequency of distress (all the time, most of the time, sometimes, little, or none) from six psychological symptoms: nervousness, hopelessness, restlessness or fidgetiness, depression, feeling(s) of everything being an effort, and worthlessness. Then we used the K6 scaling and the work of Forman-Hoffman to create: (1) "a two-category measure of serious psychological distress (SPD) as defined by a K6 score of 13 or greater, and (2) a four-category measure of no, low, moderate, or high [risk of] psychological distress based on scores of 0, 1 to 5, 6 to 10, and 11 to 24, respectively" (Forman-Hoffman et al., 2014, pg 1).



#### **Demographics**

The results show that 69% of the sampled survey population was female and 31% was male. An overwhelming majority of the sample reported speaking Korean at home (97%) and said they had limited English proficiency (90%). Almost two-thirds (62%) were U.S. citizens, whereas 34% were green card holders. More than two-thirds (69%) had household incomes of less than \$50,000 per year, including 35% with household incomes of ≤\$20,000 per year.

#### Table 8. Health Status and Health Behaviors

	Valid %
Health insurance status ( <b>yes, n=110</b> )	83
Self-rated health (poor/fair, n=110)	45
Food insecure ( <b>often true, n=108</b> )	7
Inability to afford balanced meals (often true, n=108)	12
Secondhand Smoking (n=110, respondents can choose more than one option )	
Not exposed	35
Outdoor	38
Work (outdoor)	20
Other person's home or car	15
Restaurant	15
Home	9
Work (indoor)	9
Other	9
Casino	4
Car	3
Complete control to avoid tobacco smoke (n=105)	
All the time	29
Most or fair amount of time	21
About half of the time	10
Less than half of the time	8
Rarely/Never	32

Over one-sixth (17%) of the sample did not have health insurance coverage. In this sub-sample, the participants had low self-rated health status: 45% of the population rated their health poor or fair. In addition, 7% of the participants reported being food insecure, and 12% reported inability to afford balanced meals in their daily lives. Almost twothirds (65%) of this sample reported being exposed to secondhand smoke in their daily lives.

#### Table E. Demographic Characteristics (MH / IPV Survey Sample)

	Valid %
Sex (n=111)	
Male	31
Female	69
Language in which survey was conducted (n=111)	
Korean	91
English	9
Age (n=111, Mean and SD)	14
Age (n and percentages)	
< 50 years	31
≥ 50 years	69
Country of Birth (n=109)	
Korea	98
U.S	2
Years living in the US (n=74, Mean and SD)	12
< 15 years	28
≥ 15 years	72
Language spoken at home	
(n=109, respondents can choose more than one option)	
Korean	22
English	97
Limited English Proficiency	00
(Well/Not well/Not well at all, n=110)	90
Citizenship status (US Citizen, n=111)	62
Green card holders (n=42)	90
Household income (n=103)	
≤ \$50,000	69
> \$50,000	31
Equal to \$20K or less	35
\$20,001-\$30,000	10
\$30,001-\$40,000	13
\$40,001-\$50,000	12
\$50,001-\$60,000	11
\$60,001-\$70,000	3
\$70,001 or more	18
Education (n=110)	
< 12 years	6
12 years	23
> 12 years	71
Married (yes, n=110)	73



#### Serious Psychological Distress (SPD) Measured by Kessler Scale

The mean population score was 7 out of 24 total on the Kessler (K6) scale. Thirteen percent of the survey participants reported Serious Psychological Distress (SPD), twenty eight percent were at high risk of developing SPD (scores of 10–24), while 32% were at moderate risk (6–9), 36% at low risk (1–5), and only 4% had no risk at all (score of 0).





When the results were broken down by sex, the women were three times more likely to experience SPD than Korean men. Nine percent of the women were measured as having SPD, compared with only 3% of the men. Moreover, 25% of Korean women were categorized as at high risk, compared with only 3% of the men. However, these results do not mean that Korean men are exempt from the risk of developing SPD. In fact, 53% of the men in the sample were at moderate risk of developing SPD, compared with 38% of the women. On the

other hand, only 3% of the women and 6% of the men reported levels of distress that confer no risk for SPD. These results indicate that a significant percentage of Bay Area Korean Americans respondents are experiencing notable levels of psychological distress and are at risk of developing SPD.

#### Table 9. Serious Psychological Distress

Kosslar 6 Scala	Valid %
Kessler-D State	
Serious Psychological Distress (> 13 n=100)	9
Norvous (n=111)	9
	4
Moct	4
Some	10
Little	45
Nono	12
Honeless (n=110)	12
	2
All	3
MOSL Somo	9
Some	22
Little	29
None Deathacean (ideala (ideala)	37
Restless or hagety (n=111)	
All	4
Most	13
Some	31
Little	29
None	24
Depressed (n=110)	0
All	0
Most	/
Some	1/
Little	29
None	49
Everything was an effort (n=109)	
All	4
Most	14
Some	30
Little	14
None	39
Worthlessness (n=109)	
All	1
Most	4
Some	9
Little	24
None	62



#### Past-Year Functional Impairment Due to Emotional Distress

Survey respondents were asked to recall the one month in the past 12 when they were emotionally at the worst and to assess how severely the emotional distress interfered with different tasks in their everyday lives (a lot, some, or not at all). Forty-five percent of the participants reported that emotional distress had severely or moderately interfered with performance at work over the past 12 months. Moreover, for this population, emotional distress also severely or moderately interfered with relationships with family and friends (50%), social life (48%), and household chores (42%).

Table 10. Functional Impairment due to Emotional Distress in	
Past year among Adults with Serious Psychological Distress	

	Valid %
Emotions interfere performance at work (n=103)	
Severe	13
Moderate	32
None	55
Emotions interfere household chores (n=109)	
Severe	7
Moderate	35
None	56
Emotions interfere social life (n=107)	
Severe	7
Moderate	41
None	52
Emotions interfere relationships with family and friends (n=108)	
Severe	11
Moderate	39
None	50

When survey results were broken down by sex, the women reported having been more severely or moderately affected by emotional distress compared to the men. At the same time, both women and men were adversely affected by emotional distress. Fifty-five percent of Korean women and 40% of Korean men reported severe or moderate functional impairment in family relationships and friendships due to emotional distress; 52% of the women and 30% of the men reported impairment in household chores. Forty-nine percent of the women and 34% of the men reported interference at work, and 52% of the women and 38% of the men experienced impairment in their social lives.

#### Cognitive Impairment: Confusion or Memory Loss

Forty percent of respondents reported confusion or memory loss had recently begun happening more frequently or was getting worse. Confusion or memory loss was more common among those aged 65 years or older (55%) than those younger than 65 (36%). Four percent of those experiencing confusion or memory loss reported that they usually gave up on household chores due to confusion or memory loss, while 29% sometimes did. Two percent reported that memory loss usually interfered with work, whereas 13% reported it sometimes did. Furthermore, among the population who experienced confusion or memory loss, safety was the biggest concern for needing assistance (31%), followed by personal activities (20%), household activities (13%), and transportation (4%). However, despite the high numbers of those experiencing confusion or memory loss, only 4% of those affected had discussed these changes with their health care professionals.

#### Table F. Cognitive Impairment

	Valid %
Confusion or Memory Loss (yes, n=108)	40
Gave up household chores due to confusion or memory loss (n=45)	
Always	0
Usually	4
Sometimes	29
Rarely	26
Never	46
Need the most assistance due to confusion or memory loss (n=45)	
Safety	31
Don't know	31
Personal activities	20
Household activities	13
Transportation	4
Frequency that memory loss interfered with work (n=45)	
Always	0
Usually	2
Sometimes	13
Rarely	29
Never	56
Health care professionals discussed changes in memory loss <b>(yes, n=45)</b>	4
Health care professionals said Alzheimer's or dementia (yes, n=3)	0

#### Social Context

The mental health survey module also inquired about the social context of emotional stress among Korean Americans in the Bay Area. The two social context questions asked about paying rent or mortgage and nutritious meals. Twentyfive percent of the population answered that they were always or usually stressed out about paying their rent or mortgage, and 31% of the population were sometimes worried. Seven percent of the population reported that they were always or usually worried or stressed about having enough money to buy nutritious food, and 11% were sometimes worried about this.

#### Table G. Social Context to Psychological Distress

	Valid %
Stressed out about rent/mortgage (n=107)	
Always	9
Usually	14
Sometimes	31
Rarely	8
Never	37
Worried about buying nutritious meal (n=109)	
Always	1
Usually	6
Sometimes	11
Rarely	19
Never	63

#### Mental Health Illness and Stigma

The respondents were asked to explain their level of agreement with existing mental health stigmas using a Likert scale: strongly agree, agree slightly, neither agree or disagree, disagree slightly, or disagree strongly. For the statement, "Treatment can help people live normal lives," 80% of the population either strongly or slightly agreed with the statement, whereas 4% strongly or slightly disagreed. For the statement, "People are sympathetic to people with mental illness," 51% strongly or slightly agreed, whereas 33% strongly or slightly disagreed.





#### Emotional Support and Life Satisfaction

Thirty-one percent of the respondents reported that they rarely or never had social and emotional support available. On the other hand, 25% of respondents answered that social and emotional support was always available in their lives. In terms of satisfaction with life, 88% of respondents reported that they were satisfied or very satisfied with their lives, whereas 12% responded they were dissatisfied or very dissatisfied with their lives.

#### Mental Health Care Access and Utilization

Only 8% of respondents reported that they saw a primary care physician for mental health problems, and just 1% saw another professional such as a counselor or social worker. Nine percent of respondents reported having felt they might need to see a professional due to problems with mental health, emotions, nerves, or use of alcohol or drugs within the past 12 months. However, only one respondent had actually sought such help from a professional, for a mental health-emotional problem.

The biggest reason given for not seeking help for mental health, emotional, nervous, or alcohol/drug usage problems was concern about the cost of the treatment (47%). Only 25% of the respondents had or knew that they had insurance coverage for mental health care, while a majority of the respondents (52%) did not know or refused to answer. Nonetheless, concerns about someone finding out about their problems (34%) or feeling uncomfortable talking with a professional (30%), were also prevalent reasons given for not seeking out care for mental health problems. Furthermore, a sizable percentage of those who did not seek care said that they had difficulty scheduling appointments with mental health care providers (25%).

Tabla 11 Mantal Uaalth /	(NAL) Caro Accors and Utilization	
Iddle II. Weildi Hedilii i	INITI CALE ALLESS AND UTILIZATION	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

	Valid %
Needed to see a professional due to MH problems (yes, n=108)	9
Insurance for MH problems (yes, n=109)	25
Refused	52
Sought help for mental, alcohol or drug problems (yes, n=10)	10
Mental-emotional problem (yes, n=1)	100
Saw primary care physician for MH problems (yes, n=76)	8
Saw other professionals for MH problems (yes, n=75)	1
Reasons for not seeking help	
Concerns on the cost of the treatment (yes, n=109)	47
Don't know/ Refused	14
Did not feel comfortable talking with a professional (yes, n=108)	30
Don't know/ Refused	12
Concerns on someone finding out about MH problems (yes, n=108)	34
Don't know/ Refused	12
Had a difficult time scheduling (yes, n=108)	25
Don't know/Refused	25

#### Prevalence of Intimate Partner Violence

Nineteen percent of the respondents reported being in or having been in a relationship that resulted in feelings of fear. However, only 1% of the respondents reported that they were victims of domestic violence.

For example, when asked if a current or past intimate partner had acted in a certain way towards them, 19% reported experiencing verbal, physical, and/or sexual violence (19%). Next, when asked if a past or current intimate partner ever hit, slapped, pushed, kicked, and/or physically hurt the respondents, 13% reported experiencing these acts. Nine percent experienced an unwanted



sexual act in an intimate partnership, and 2% had been threatened by a partner with a gun, knife, or other weapons. Also, 2% reported that an intimate partner had held their passport against their will or threatened them with deportation or other immigration-related threats.

#### Table I. Prevalence of Domestic Violence and IPV

Domestic Violence	Valid %
Relationship that resulted in feelings of fear (yes, n=108)	19
Victims of domestic violence (yes, n=105)	1
Intimate Partner Violence	
Verbal, physical, sexually violent manner (yes, n=108)	19
Physical attack (yes, n=109)	13
Unwanted sexual act (yes, n=106)	9
Gun, knife or weapon (yes, n=108)	2
Passport against will/ Deportation (yes, n=108)	2
Talk about this <b>(yes, n=45)</b>	29
Maybe good to talk to:	
(n=45, respondents can choose more than one option)	
Family	37
Friends	40
Clergy	46
Health care providers	62
Community	13
Other	60
Professionals	20

Among the respondents who had experienced these acts of IPV, only 29% reported having discussed this violence with others (third parties). When asked who might be good to talk with when violence happens in an intimate partnership, the respondents answered a health care provider of some type (62%), clergy (46%), friend (40%), family member (37%), other professional (20%), and community organization (13%) (multiple answers were permitted).

#### Secondhand Smoke Exposure by Sex

Secondhand smoking is an important issue among Korean Americans in the Bay Area. Sixtyfive percent of the survey population reported experiencing secondhand smoking in various places, such as outdoors (38%), at an outdoor workplace (20%), in another person's home or car (15%), in a restaurant (15%), at home (9%), and in an indoor workplace (9%).

More men (80%) reported exposure to secondhand smoking than women (56%). The most prevalent place reported by both women (42%) and men (35%) was outdoors (not including an outdoor workplace or restaurant). Among the female respondents, 56% reported secondhand smoke exposure, and 71% of those who were exposed reported not having complete control to avoid it. This group included the 32% of the female respondents who reported never or rarely having any control over secondhand smoke exposure. These findings underscore the need to empower Korean women to be assertive in avoiding secondhand smoke exposure.

#### Table 12. Secondhand Smoking by Sex

	Male	Female
Secondhand Smoking (n=110, respondents can choose more than one option)	%	%
Not exposed	20	44
Home	8	10
Car	3	3
Work (indoor)	6	11
Work (outdoor)	27	18
Other person's home or car	8	18
Outdoor	35	42
Restaurant	15	15
Casino	3	4
Other	15	7
	Male	Female
Complete control to avoid tobacco smoke (n=105)		%
All the time	29	29
Most or fair amount of time	21	21
About half of the time	12	10
Less than half of the time	6	9
Rarely/Never	32	32



In this section, we present the results of our KoNA Bay Area survey and try to illuminate what is actually happening in the local community based on such findings. We also compare our findings with California Health Interview Survey (CHIS) 2011-2012 data, in order to see how this local Korean population in the survey differs in characteristics from Koreans in California's population-based CHIS. Our survey participants reflect voices of immigrant Korean communities, such as individuals with Limited English Proficiency that may be systematically excluded from opportunities to achieve better health without proper intervention. It is our aim that discussions in this report will support federal, state and local governments' capacity to plan for programs to achieve health equity among severely under- and inappropriately served populations.

#### Table 13. Comparison of KoNA Bay Area data with CHIS Data

	Bay Area Korean	CHIS Korean	CHIS All Asian	CHIS Entire CA
General Demographics				
Average Age	52.4			
Age (≥50), %	57.0	47.7	36.4	42.0
Male, %	40.0	32.9	46.3	48.6
Education Level (12 yrs), %	78.7	71.1	76.4	62.9
Income Level (>\$50,000), %	44.0	45.0	57.1	50.1
LEP (Limited English Proficiency; Well, not well, not well at all), %	85.0 (80.0%)+	77.0	62.0	63.0
CHIS (2011-2012; age 21-85)				
Health Status: Insurance				
Overall (Uninsured), %	16.0	34.0	14.0	18.0
Employer Insurance, %	33.0	34.0	58.0	47.0
Medi-Cal, %	18.0	15.0	11.0	13.0
CHIS (2011 – 2012; age 21-85)				
Health Status: Self-Rated Health				
Fair/Poor Health, %	45.0	29.0	18.0	19.0
CHIS (2011 – 2012; age 21-85)				
Health Status: Current Smokers				
Overall (YES), %	9.0	13.0	10.0	14.0
Male (YES), %	16.0	26.9	17.6	17.1
CHIS (2011 – 2012; age 21-85)				
Health Status: Number of Cigarettes Per Day (Among Current Smokers)				
Average # per day	9.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
2-5 per day, %	N/A	19.0	25.0	21.0
6-10 per day, %	N/A	54.0	49.0	41.0
11-19 per day, %	N/A	5.0	11.0	15.0
20 or more per day, %	N/A	21.0	14.0	21.0
CHIS (2011 – 2012; age 21-85)				
Health Care Utilization: Delay in Care				
Overall (YES), %	31.0	7.0	10.0	15.0
_ CHIS (2011 – 2012; age 21-85)				
Health Care Utilization: Visit to Emergency Care				
Overall (YES), %	9.0	6.0	11.7	17.9
CHIS (2011 – 2012; age 21-85)				
Cancer Screening: Pap Smear (21 years and older)				
21 years and older (NEVER), %	30.0	18.0	14.0	5.0
CHIS (2011 – 2012; age 21-85)				
Cancer Screening: Mammography				
Overall (NEVER), %	27.0	27.0	27.0	23.0
40 years and older (NEVER), %	18.7	34.6	11.9	7.4
CHIS (2007; age 21-85)				
Cancer Screening: CRC Screening				
Overall (NO), %	47.0	30.0	26.0	22.0
50 years and older, %	24.0	31.0	26.3	22.1
CHIS (2009; age 21-85)				

## **Part 3. Discussion**

Chronic Conditions: Self-reported diabetes							
Overall (YES), \$	18.0 (14.0) †	11.0	7.0	9.0			
Type I, %	26.0	10.0	11.0	14.0			
Type II, %	69.0	83.0	87.0	83.0			
During Pregnancy, %	8.0	4.0	7.0	6.0			
Chronic Conditions: Self-reported hypertension							
Overall (YES), %	31.0 ( 25.0) +	26.0	22.0	28.0			
If hypertensive, on medication (YES), %	76.0	65.0	83.0	70.0			
Cardiovascular Risk Factors							
Heart Disease, %	8.0 (7.0) +	2.6	4.4	6.4			
Smoking, %	9.0	12.9	9.9	13.8			
Second-Hand Smoking, %	65.0	50.0	6.7 <sup>1</sup>	5.8 <sup>1</sup>			
Physical Activity, %	80.0	37.3	35.4	33.3			
High Cholesterol. %	N/A	N/A	25.0	22.1			
Diet <sup>2</sup> . %	N/A	20.0	27.8	27.2			
Mental Health Care: Needed help for emotional/mental health problems or use of alcohol/drug							
Overall (YES), %	9.0	12.0	9.0	16.0			
Mental Health Care: Sought help for self-reported mental/emotional and/or alcohol-drug issue(s)							
Overall (YES), %	10.0	30 <sup>3</sup>	43.0	57.0			
Mental Health Care: Saw healthcare provider for emotional / mental and/or alcohol-drug issues in past year							
Overall (YES), %	8.0	6.0	5.0	12.0			
CHIS 2011 – 2012; age 21-85							
Intimate Partner Violence: Ever experienced violence <sup>4</sup> by an intimate partner since age 18							
Overall (YES), %	19.0	6.0	6.0	16.0			
CHIS 2009; age 21-85							
Functional Impairment due to Emotional Distress among Adults with Serious Psychological Distress: Work							
Severe, %	13	7	3	4			
Moderate, %	32	6	67	7			
None, %	55	88	90	89			
Functional Impairment due to Emotional Distress among Adults with Serious Psychological Distress: Household Chores							
Severe, %	7	4	3	6			
Moderate, %	35	9	7	7			
None, %	56	86	90	87			
Functional Impairment due to Emotional Distress among Adults with Serious Psychological Distress: Social Life							
Severe, %	7	6	5	7			
Moderate, %	41	10	6	7			
None, %	52	84	89	86			
Functional Impairment due to Emotional Distress among Adults with Serious Psychological Distress: Family							
Severe, %	11	7	5	6			
Moderate, %	39	8	6	8			
None, %	50	85	89	86			
CHIS 2011-2012: aae 21-85							

<sup>1</sup>Second-hand smoking exposure at home only

<sup>2</sup>Fruit and vegetable intake

<sup>3</sup>Statistically Unstable (CHIS 2011 – 2012)

<sup>4</sup>In our questionnaire, we defined violence as verbal, physical or sexual; CHIS defines violence as physical or sexual

<sup>†</sup>Age-adjusted using the Census 2000 data

G

:5

While our data have limitations in generalizability to the larger Korean population due to convenience sampling, it is effective in demonstrating geographically specific data for a single Asian American sub-population in a way the current CHIS data do not. The local needs assessment is thus complementary to data obtained from CHIS. We compare our data to CHIS 2011-2012 (wherever possible) here to highlight differences seen between the populations captured by the KoNA Bay Area and CHIS.

#### **LEP and Health Literacy**

Bay Area Koreans show a very high rate of *limited English proficiency.* LEP is reported to be one of two key risk factors that affect healthrelated quality of life among six Asian ethnic groups: Chinese, Filipino, Japanese, Korean, Vietnamese, and South Asian (Gee & Ponce, 2010). In our Bay Area survey, eighty-five percent (85%) of Korean participants reported LEP, which is higher than the 76% LEP rate for the California Korean population reported by the 2011–2012 CHIS. A majority of our survey participants was an immigrant population born in Korea, and our rate is consistent with the state data on high LEP rate among Koreans. This indicates the importance of exploring the language service capacity gaps and communication preferences to support Koreans in accessing, understanding and making appropriate health decisions.

#### A majority of Bay Area Koreans has difficulty understanding communications by their physicians. A third of our participants (33%)

reported difficulty in communicating with their health care provider due to language barriers. Of that group, 87% reported that they needed help to understand the doctor, 78% said they would prefer to have a doctor who speaks Korean, and 46% would prefer to see a Korean doctor even if they had to pay more for health care. Clearly, a provider network with Korean-speaking physicians and other ancillary providers would be important to improve health care access and quality care in this population.

#### Many Bay Area Koreans have trouble navigating the health care system and are unfamiliar with patients' health rights as well as the other benefits that their medical insurance

offers. Although language is one obvious obstacle, the complexity of the U.S. health care system, in contrast to Korea's single-payer system, is another very likely cause. Like many Americans, Korean Americans face challenges with evaluating various health plans, choosing primary care providers, and utilizing services within a provider network. The fact that a huge portion of the community does not have a usual source of care (28%) despite having health insurance indicates a limited understanding of the health system; in combination with LEP, this puts Koreans at a higher risk for poor health outcomes. Less than half of survey participants (46%) reported being familiar with the patients' rights assured by the Affordable Care Act (ACA), and 77% said they were unfamiliar with its provisions specific to women's health. Clearly, designing health information materials about patient rights and health care benefits as well as generating health promotion efforts that are culturally appropriate to the Korean community

are vital in addressing their current challenges in navigating the complex American healthcare system.

Koreans do not have a usual source of care. they experience delays in seeking medical care, and they do not often utilize preventive services such as cancer screening. Cancer is the leading cause of death (32%) for Koreans, yet one-third of Bay Area Korean participants (33%) responded that they do not have a usual place to go for healthcare. Even among those who have insurance, 28% reported that they do not have a usual place for care when they are sick. Almost one-tenth of participants (9%) visited the emergency department in the past year, and a third of the participants (31%) experienced delayed care. 30% of female participants responded that they never received a Pap smear, and 24% of participants who were above age 50 had reported that they had not received colorectal cancer screening. To better understand these low cancer screening rates, we tested the association between LEP and familiarity with each of the two cancer screenings and found a significant negative association between LEP and familiarity with the Pap smear (p = 0.010). This result implies that Korean women living in the Bay Area may not have received a Pap smear because of unfamiliarity with its benefits due to language barriers. A comprehensive community assessment of barriers and facilitators to cancer screenings for Koreans is needed to understand the gaps and provide recommendations on effective strategies and messages to increase the awareness about the value of cancer screenings in the Korean community.

Considering the high LEP rate and low rate of health literacy, understanding how Koreans get their health information is critical - Bay Area Koreans obtain health information from sources other than their physicians and seek alternative *health care services.* When asked about their sources of health information, about half of the participants mentioned the doctor's office (25%) and/or hospital (27%); many responded that they rely on Internet (51%), friends and relatives (29%), newspaper (26%), and television (22%), among other sources. One fourth of the Korean participants are getting healthcare from someone other than a physician or nurse. When asked about types of alternative healthcare services they have received, acupuncture was the number one alternative healthcare service (30%), followed by eastern medicine doctor (23%), massage therapy (15%), chiropractic (14%), physical therapy (12%), herbal medicine (7%), and mental health counseling (4%). Getting vital health information out to Koreans requires a multi-pronged approach that includes support from a variety of community information sources such as family/friends, newspaper, television, and traditional Korean medical providers together with Western health care sources such as a primary care physician or another clinical staff.

*Improving health literacy requires multifaceted solutions outside the clinical setting.* Given how LEP affects health literacy, addressing physicianpatient language barriers is critical. However, many current approaches to this issue are based on a clinical model that views poor literacy as a risk factor that needs to be managed when providing care. This type of intervention alone is



not sufficient as it fails to address the importance of social determinants of health. Communitybased empowerment models view health literacy as an asset that needs to be developed. Health education and communication improve one's ability to effectively navigate the health care system, actively participate in making health care decisions, and choose healthier behaviors, thus gaining greater control over everyday events in their lives (Nutbeam, 2000). As a result of improved health literacy, individuals will be able to develop necessary skills to engage in health-enhancing actions including using services to promote better health, enabling confident interactions with health care providers, having the ability to navigate the health care system effectively, and influencing others to make healthy decisions.

#### **Mental Health**

#### Bay Area Koreans have unusually high Serious Psychological Distress (SPD) and rates of Functional Impairment Related to SPD. Our

study shows significantly high levels of SPD, and functional impairment among Bay Area Koreans. Thirteen percent of the survey participants reported SPD, and 28% were at high risk of developing SPD. Forty-five percent of the participants reported that emotional distress has severely or moderately interfered with performance at work, 50% reported such interference in relationships with family and friends, 48% with social life, and 42% with household chores over the past 12 months. Factors related to immigration and minority status may contribute to higher SPD and *Functional Impairment.* An insight into such high prevalence rates can be found in a widely held perspective in the sociology of minority mental health, the stress process paradigm (Moritsugu & Sue, 1983; Vega & Rumbaut, 1991). Immigrants experience unusually high stress caused by uprooting processes such as adjustment to a new language, sense of isolation and marginality, homesickness, social discrimination, financial hardships, etc. (Social Stressor). They also experience erosion of self-esteem and sense of mastery due to changes in role identity and structure in the family and society, leading to defense mechanisms that are not typically functional or socially acceptable in their new setting (Psychological Resources).

In spite of high SPD and functional impairment, Koreans do not seek help for mental health issues due to values maintained by traditional cultural norms. In spite of the high rates of SPD

and functional impairment, the awareness for the need to seek help and the utilization of services are extremely low. Only 9% of the respondents with functional impairment related to SPD reported they might need to see a healthcare professioonal. Among those who felt that they needed help, only 10% actually sought help from other sources and only 1 respondent sought help from a healthcare professional - regardless of the self-reported need to see a professional for their mental health problems. A good framework for such lack of recognition can be found in **cognitive barriers** as defined by Rogler, Malgady, and Rodriguez (Rogler, Malgady & Rodriguez, 1989). **Koreans**  consider behaviors as signs of mental illness only if they are upsetting to the social group. Such signs include psychotic, dangerous or disruptive behaviors (Moon & Tashima, 1982), but do not entail typical personal problems or general emotional distress (Tracey, Leong, & Glidden, 1985). Pang's study on *Hwabyung* provides an interesting example of the tendency to somatize psychological symptoms among Koreans (Pang, 1990). Because of Korean culture's esteem of restraint, suppression of verbal aggression, and avoidance of confrontation, Hwabyung is a uniquely Korean culture-bound syndrome in which suppressed emotions reflecting anger, disappointment, sadness, misery, hostility, grudges, and unfulfilled dreams of expectations manifest themselves physically. Symptoms include chronic indigestion, poor appetite, constipation, heart palpitations, pains in knees or legs, cold hands or feet, vomiting blood, altered sensory perception, nightmares, decreased urine output, and hypothyroidism. While Korean culture imposes "inappropriateness" or stigmas on expressing psychological symptoms in Western clinical terms such as mental illness or psychological distress, Hwabyung allows Koreans to approach their mental health issues through a model congruent to their own cultural context that links emotional and bodily distresses.

#### Cost, Stigma, Lack of Awareness and Trust about available Resources, and different values associated with Western psychotherapy and psychiatric treatment are barriers to

*service utilization.* Reasons for not seeking help among people who recognize emotional and functional impairment issues and are willing to

seek help include: 1) concerns about the cost of the treatment (47%), 2) stigma such as public knowledge of their problems (34%), and 3) feeling uncomfortable talking with a professional about these problems (30%). Furthermore, a sizable percent of those who did not seek care said that they had difficulty scheduling appointments with mental health care providers (25%).

# For those who do seek help, mental health treatments need to be culturally responsive.

Even when they seek services, premature termination occurs at a much higher rate than in non-minority clients, which is an outcome with varied (and sometimes obscure) determinants. For instance, the cultural orientation (and potential bias) of the therapist may affect their clinical judgment, leading to misunderstanding and/ or mismanagement of the patient; this could include the inappropriate use of diagnostic and personality tests, misattribution of symptom expression, constraints on communication due to mismatched language capacities, and the natural variability in expression of psychological disorders, due to complex, interacting cultural and environmental contextual factors, which can vary over time. Traditionally, Koreans seek help for Hwabyung (somatic cultural-bound expression of mental health symptoms) from oriental medicine as it links emotional and bodily distresses in a model congruent to their cultural context. Collective values that are traditionally held by Asian Americans (Triandis, 1988), oppose the values associated with Western psychotherapy (Leong, Wagner, & Tata, 1995). Many studies supported the effectiveness of ethnic-specific mental health services (ESS) however, most studies used proxy

variables of cultural match (language, ethnicity, etc.), without employing more direct tests of the culturally appropriateness of services to illuminate what elements of the services lead to enhanced outcomes when can then be implemented outside of ESS facilities.

#### Culturally Effective Engagement to improve Service Utilization is equally important as Culturally Responsive Services. We conducted

a thorough literature review and examined current behavioral health care models for Asian American Native Hawaiian Pacific Islander (AANHPI) population prior to conducting this research. We were struck by the lack of population-specific data, culturally relevant mental health services, and culturally inappropriate and sporadic community engagement, such as efforts to find Koreans in a Chinatown library. In the process, the Korean community is not offered care that they deserve, with no evidence of what constitutes adequate care, and spotty, uncoordinated and fragmented services provided in the 5 Bay Area counties. Our study demonstrated the need for an approach that holistically looks at the impact of diverse factors including immigration-related social stressors, empowerment to strengthen psychological resources to overcome socioeconomic and role changes, building social support in the community, understanding barriers coming from cultural differences as well as impact of employment, housing, education, poverty, neighborhood safety, and other social determinants of health. In addition, culturally competent care should start from the target population's behavioral patterns and be delivered in a less stigmatizing environment that requires creating innovative coordination

between existing and new resources. Our survey tells us that Bay Area Koreans often get healthcare from someone other than a physician: acupuncture (30%), oriental medicine doctor (23%), massage therapy (15%), chiropractic (14%), physical therapy (12%), herbal medicine (7%), and mental health counseling (4%). Our survey also shows that more than half of Koreans form networks through Korean faith institutions, and gain health information through the internet (51%), friends and relatives (29%), primary care physician's offices (27%), ethnic newspapers (26%), and television (22%).

#### Direct and Secondhand Smoke Exposure

Korean men are a very high priority population for tobacco use, and disparities between men and women in terms of smoking rates pose serious secondhand smoke issues for nonsmoking Korean women. Our San Francisco Bay Area needs assessment shows a smoking prevalence among Korean males and a similar disparity between sexes that is consistent with CHIS data - men smoke at over 3 times the rate of women. Our study population reported an overall smoking rate of 9%, compared to 12.9% for Koreans surveyed in CHIS 2011. However, San Francisco Bay Area male smoking rate (16%) was significantly higher than that of women (3%).

# Non smokers feel they have no control over secondhand and third-hand smoke

*exposure.* It also demonstrates a need for community empowerment in negotiating smoke-free environments. Among 71 female Korean

respondents, 57% reported that they have been exposed to tobacco smoke , 71% reported not having complete control of secondhand smoke avoidance, including 32% of the female respondents reporting they "never/rarely" have any control over SHS exposure. Findings from our survey underscore the need for interventions for smoke-free environments, including for the nonsmoking Korean population, and empowering women to speak up for smoke-free homes. Our findings indicate third-hand smoke exposure also exists, as participants report exposure to cigarettes in various locations outdoors and report not having any control over their exposure.

## Bay Area Koreans have higher SPD and Associated Functional Impairment Rates than California Koreans and all racial groups in California. High SPD is known to be associated

with high smoking rate. Our study shows significantly higher levels of Serious Psychological Distress (SPD), and functional impairment among Bay Area Koreans who smoke. Thirteen percent of the survey participants reported SPD, 28% are at high risk of developing SPD. Forty-five percent of the participants reported that emotional distress has severely or moderately interfered with performance at work, 50% reported such interference in relationships with family and friends, 48% with social life, and 42% with household chores over the past 12 months. This is consistent with reports from California Tobacco Control Program (CDPH, 2008) that groups with extremely high smoking rates include those who report serious psychological distress such as Korean males.

#### Population-based, culturally and linguisticallyspecific interventions and prevention are urgently needed and should be based on

evidence. With an increasing demand to enhance outcomes of tobacco intervention and prevention programs, as highlighted by the 2015 Master Plan of the Tobacco Education and Research Oversight Committee (TEROC), there has been increasing recognition of needed partnerships between research and community-based agencies since 2000. Such Community-based Participatory Research (CBPR) partnerships enable combining evidence-based strategies with population-based, culturally and linguistically-specific interventions and prevention for the state's diverse population, directly advancing TEROC's objective of reducing tobacco-related health disparities. Given 20% of tobacco funding should be allocated for prevention efforts at a county level, counties should consciously utilize this allocation by supporting evidence-based practices and innovative new programs that have the potential to promote better outcomes, especially for populations disproportionately affected by tobacco-related health disparity.

#### Quit attempts and utilization of Smoker's Helpline could be a mid-term outcome to target for cessation. However, uniquely for Asians, Helpline calls are often made by others, such as friends and family members. Quitting smoking successfully is a major challenge for smokers. In spite of the steady increase in cessation treatment and nicotine replacement therapy, 75% of those making a quit attempt used no assistance (California Department of Public Health, 2008). Quit attempts are highly related to success in quitting.

Past studies found that ex-smokers recalled an average of 4.7 lifetime quit attempts to achieve successful cessation (CDPH, 2008). Clinical trials consistently demonstrate that Helpline counseling approximately doubles the odds of successful long-term quitting (Zhu et al., 1996; Zhu et al., 2012). However, 35% of calls on the Asian lines are made by friends or family members, rather than the smokers themselves; specifically for callers to the Korean language line, 27% of the calls were made by friends of family members (Zhu et al., 2010). This is an additional barrier to address as the Helpline is more effective when called by individuals who smoke, but also shows importance of working with family and friends.

#### Family-based, and empowerment-based intervention is a promising evidence-based approach in API populations. Intervention

studies with pregnant women providing them education and skills and empowerment to reduce SHS exposure from their smoking husbands have had initial success in SHS exposure reduction without evidence of long-term efficacy (Loke et al., 2005, Lee AH, 2008, Chi et al., 2014, Chan et al., 2013). Interventions targeting children failed to show that any one type of intervention was more effective than others in reducing SHS exposure (Baxi et al., 2014). Family-based interventions that utilize Lay Health Worker outreach to involve both smokers and their families supported the familybased approach in promoting smoking cessation in Asian American communities (Tsoh et al., 2015).

*Policy Implications.* Thus far, increasing the price of tobacco products is one of the most effective in reducing tobacco use, and along with legislative

smoking bans, remain most effective in reducing SHS exposure in the U.S. (Callinan et al., 2010). Increasing the tobacco tax by \$1.00 would prevent an estimated 35,000 current adult smokers and over 56,000 youth from a smoking related death. Without the tax increase, smoking attributable deaths in the state are projected to rise. Since Proposition 99 was passed in 1988, local health agencies, coalitions, education departments, research, civic and medical institutions, and community-based agencies in California have worked together in an effort to save lives from the public health threat posed by Tobacco using four pillars - policy, treatment, research and prevention. In 2015, five bills were proposed (SB 591 to raise the tobacco tax by \$2 per pack, SB 151 to help keep tobacco out of the hands of youth by raising the minimum age for sales to 21, SB 140 to regulate e-cigarettes, AB 768 to ban tobacco products in the state's ballparks and AB 1396 to expand access to healthcare for low-income Californians). Two of the proposed laws - SB 140 and SB 151 — were discussed by the Senate Health Committee the day of the announcement. Both were approved and will now head to the Senate Appropriations Committee for further consideration.

#### Limitations and need for further research:

The current needs assessment report was focused on health needs assessment among Korean American adults (age 18 and over) in Bay Area counties. Accordingly, it did not explore youth engagement in interventions and prevention of tobacco use or media influences on youth by the Tobacco Industry, which warrants further investigation, especially with the threat of new products such as e-cigarettes (King et al., 2015). As we enter a new age in healthcare with the advent of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, reducing tobacco use and preventing initiation of tobacco use will be even more critical in order to control rising healthcare costs.

#### **Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors**

The results from our study indicated that Bay Area Koreans had a higher rate of self-reported cardiovascular disease (7.0%) than did Korean adults in California (2.6%), Asian adults in California (4.4%), and adults overall in California (6.4%) (CHIS, 2011). Some common risk factors for cardiovascular diseases are high blood pressure, diabetes, smoking, physical activity, cholesterol, and diet, so we address these risks below where possible.

Koreans in the Bay Area are at elevated risk for hypertension. Hypertension, or high blood pressure, is a risk factor for both heart disease and stroke, especially for Korean American adults. The percent of deaths among individuals with hypertension is higher for every Asian American adult population, compared with non-Hispanic White adults (Jose et al., 2014). In 2011, a quarter of Korean American adults (24.7%) had high blood pressure (CHIS, 2011). Given the high rate of hypertension, it is important to study prevention and treatment methods to control hypertension in Korean Americans (Jose et al., 2014). Regarding the rate of hypertension, our study showed a high rate of self-reported hypertension from Koreans in the SF Bay Area (31%). This rate was substantially higher than the rate reported by Korean adults in California (24.7%), Asian adults in California (20.6%), and the overall population of California (27.3%) (CHIS, 2011).

Koreans in the Bay Area showed higher levels of Type II Diabetes than other Asian subgroups in California. Another risk factor for cardiovascular disease is type II diabetes mellitus, the form of diabetes that is most common among adults. Diabetes appears as the 4th most common cause of death in U.S. mortality lists and is strongly linked to risk for heart disease. The complications from diabetes are often related to damage to the heart and blood vessels as diabetes progresses (International Diabetes Federation, 2001). In comparison to non-Hispanic White adults, the risk of diabetes mellitus was 18% higher in Asian Americans (American Heart Association, 2013), but varies by sub-population. Out of all Asian ethnic sub-groups, the rate of diabetes in elderly Korean American men was higher than reported for any other ethnic group, including Black and Hispanic populations (Kim et al., 2001). Our study showed that 18% of Koreans in the Bay Area selfreported having diabetes (of any type). This was substantially higher in comparison to Koreans in California (10.6%), Asians in California (7.0%), and the overall population of California (8.4%) (CHIS, 2011).

Koreans are at greater risk of cardiovascular disease due to high rates of first-hand smoking and second-hand smoke exposure. Additionally, for Korean American men, the smoking rates are high, and contribute to both heart disease and cancer (Palaniappan et al., 2010). Smoking is perhaps the most significant risk factor for cardiovascular diseases, and smoking cessation reduces the risk for both heart disease and stroke. Both men and women in the Korean group had higher rates of smoking and lower guit rates than seen in other Asian American sub-groups (An et al., 2008). Among non-smokers, exposure to second-hand smoke has been increasing (Kim et al., 2014). In a study that examined the secondhand smoke exposure of Korean Americans living in California, 50% were exposed to second-hand smoke at baseline. A follow-up two years later showed that the percentage of those who had been exposed to second-hand smoking had increased to 60.4%. The exposure to secondhand smoke was found to be associated with acculturation, employment, and being surrounded by those who smoked (Kim et al., 2014). A study conducted by Malek showed that women were more likely to be exposed to second-hand smoke than men (Malek et al., 2015). Our study population reported an overall smoking rate of 9%, compared to 12.9% for Koreans surveyed in CHIS 2011. However, San Francisco Bay Area male smoking rate (16%) was significantly higher than that of women (3%).

*Physical activity levels are low.* Health behaviors such as low rates of physical activity also have an association with heart disease. Especially among Asian Americans, physical inactivity is a significant risk factor, as 11.8% reported not engaging in any physical activity and only 30.5% engaged in regular physical activity (CHIS, 2011). Furthermore, a study conducted in 2011 showed that only 16.7% of Asian adults met the 2008 federal physical

activity guidelines (American Heart Association, 2013) of 150 minutes/week of moderate physical activity. Another study found that women, younger age groups, less acculturated individuals, married males, and people with lower education level engage in less physical activity (Hofstetter et al., 2008).

Results from our survey for physical activity levels showed that only 14% met the CDC guideline for physical activity, walking at least 150 minutes in a week. However, 26.4% of Koreans in the California CHIS reported walking or exercising at least 30 minutes, 5 times/week which was slightly higher than all Asian groups in California (23.9%), and the overall population of California (26.2%) (CHIS, 2011).

Level of blood cholesterol is also a risk factor for cardiovascular disease. The rate of high total cholesterol among Asian American adults was 10.3% with the rate of low high-density lipoprotein (HDL, or "good cholesterol") of 14.3% (Aoki et al., 2014). In addition, foreign-born Asian adults had twice the rate of low high-density lipoprotein (15.4%) than did U.S.-born Asian adults (7.7%) (Aoki et al., 2014). A similar comparison between men and women showed that the rate of low HDL in Asian men (24.5%) was approximately five times higher than that of Asian women (5.1%) (Aoki et al., 2014). Given that the rate of low HDL differs significantly across place of birth and gender, studies suggest that these factors may be involved in determining the level of HDL cholesterol. Although we did not study cholesterol levels in our survey, results from the CHIS 2011 indicate that a guarter of the Asian American population in

California reports high total cholesterol levels. This rate is slightly greater than the rate observed for the overall population of California (CHIS, 2011). More information is needed on levels of different types of cholesterol among Korean Americans.

#### Koreans in California eat fewer vegetables than Koreans in Korea, and have higher levels of obesity, which may increase with a new BMI

standard for Asians. Another significant health behavior that is associated with heart disease is dietary intake. We did not collect dietary intake information in the Bay Area needs assessment. However, data from CHIS 2011-2012 show that Korean adults in California had a much lower fruit and vegetable dietary intake (20.0%) than all other Asian sub-groups in California (27.8%), and less than the overall population in California (27.2%) (CHIS, 2011). Another study that compared dietary intake and health-related behaviors of Korean American women born in U.S. and Korea showed that U.S.-born women consumed fewer vegetables and fruit than those women born in Korea (Park et al., 2005). In addition, fat intake was higher in U.S.-born women than in Korea-born women (Park et al., 2005). Also, the percentage of those who were overweight or obese was much higher in U.S.-born Korean American women (31.4%) than in Korea-born women (9.4%) (Park et al., 2005). These findings suggest that changes in living conditions and acculturation of Korean immigrants may affect dietary intakes in ways that may negatively impact their risk of heart diseases, a phenomenon seen for other populations migrating to the US (Marmot & Syme, 1976). This deserves additional study in California's Korean community.

#### **Women's Health**

#### Bay Area Korean women were less likely to receive cancer screening than Korean women in California and all women in California. Our

study found that the Pap smear screening rate in the local group was substantially lower than the state average. 30% of participants in this sample reported never receiving a Pap smear compared with only 5% of all Californians and 18% of Korean women in California reporting never having received a Pap smear (CHIS, 2001-2009). Breast cancer screening rate in our sample was also lower than the state average; among those 40 years or more who are recommended to receive mammograms (American Cancer Society, 2015), 18% in our Korean sample never received a mammogram, but rates for never received mammogram in this age group was 7% for the California overall state average (CHIS, 2011). Furthermore, almost 60% of women in our sample replied that they never had a doctor examine their breasts for lumps, compared with only 23% of all Californian women and 48% of Korean American women in California having reported never having received this screening (CHIS, 2001-2009).

#### Bay Area Korean women are at risk of secondhand smoke exposure, and feel no control

over this exposure. Our Bay Area needs assessment shows smoking prevalence among Korean males is higher than among women. The disparity between male and female is consistent with CHIS data - men smoke at over 3 times the rate of women. Among 71 female Korean respondents in our survey, 57% reported SHS exposure and 71% reported not having complete control of SHS avoidance, including 32% of the female respondents reporting they "never/rarely" have any control over SHS exposure. Findings underscore the need for interventions for smokefree environments, including for the non-smoking Korean population, and empowering women to speak up for smoke-free homes.

#### Bay Area Korean women have significantly lower self-rated health than do "All California" Koreans and other minority groups. In our

sample, nearly 40% of the participants perceived themselves as having fair/poor health. This percentage is higher than CHIS Korean (27%), other Asian American groups (Chinese: 16%; Filipino: 10%) and the state average (15%) (CHIS, 2001-2009). When stratified by sex, more women (43%) perceived their health as fair/poor than men (29%). This trend is similar to CHIS's Korean sample in that more women (26%) perceived their health as fair/poor than did men (12%), but in our sample, the percentage of participants who regarded their health as unhealthy was significantly higher. Findings from this study confirm results from other studies of SRH among minority groups.

#### Having a language barrier and larger share of burden from immigration widens the health disparity gap for Korean women. Immigrant

women face a large burden of health disparities (Alba, 2005; Echeverria et al., 2006; Tillman, 2009). In the process of acculturation, Korean immigrant women are faced with compounded risk factors in all areas of life, including family, work, and society at large (Lee et al., 2012). Their struggles to integrate family and work roles were shown to impact quality of life and put them at greater risk for depression (Kim et al., 1994). In abusive relationships, immigrant women are more vulnerable to violence through their partners' abuse of legal status and culture (Raj et al., 2002). There is a lack of services that can simultaneously address cultural issues and language barriers, and this narrows the range of assistance that women may perceive as fitting for their needs.

Critical call for gender-sensitive and culturally specific programming. With the higher likelihood that Korean women will not receive adequate information from health facilities or physicians due to language and cultural barriers, the matter of increased health information access will require an awareness of trusted sources within the local community, as well as a means by which to understand women's current understanding of various health issues. A call for greater gender equity in health and the need for gender-specific health care programs have been put forth for some time now. Rather than aiming to standardize health outcomes for two different groups, the purpose of promoting gender equity is to "ensure that the two groups have equal access to those resources which they need to realize their potential for health" (Doyal, 2000). Gender/sex disparities and differences in health and health care are well-documented generally. At the same time, the issue of minority women's health and health care disparities is a more complex topic from the general concept of women's health, if only for the fact that the perception and context of "women's health" across cultures are varied; for example, socioeconomic factors create diverging views of medical practices as empowering or stigmatizing (Kumanyika et al., 2001). It follows, then, that

the challenges of promoting health equity and health care access within the Korean American community are unique.

#### **Intimate Partner Violence**

High Intimate Partner Violence Prevalence among Bay Area Koreans. Nineteen percent of our survey respondents reported being or having been in a relationship that resulted in feelings of fear. The percentage of respondents who indicated that they have been in such relationships was significantly higher for women than for men (22% vs. 9%). The most prevalent form of IPV experienced was verbal, physical, and/or sexual violence (19%), followed by physical attack (13%), such as hitting, slapping, pushing, kicking, and/ or physically hurting the victim. Nine percent experienced an unwanted sexual act in an intimate partnership, and 2% had been threatened by a gun, knife or another weapon. Also, 2% reported that an intimate partner had held their passport against their will or threatened them about deportation or other immigration concerns.

#### People who experienced violence from their partners do not identify themselves as victims of violence, and they experience multiple

*barriers in help-seeking.* In spite of high prevalence of IPV, only 1% of the respondents in the Bay Area survey identified themselves as victims of domestic violence. Among the respondents who answered they had experienced these acts of IPV, only 29% of the respondents reported that they have spoken with others about the violence in their relationship. When asked who might be good to talk with when violence occurs in an intimate partnership, the respondents answered: health care provider of some type (62%), clergy (46%), friend (40%), family member (37%), other professional (20%), and community organization (13%). The answers were not mutually exclusive. Korean women are often confronted with difficulties associated with dual oppression, being conferred inferior status in terms of both race and gender. Korean culture imposes sanctions that devalue women, and misogynistic role obligations stemming from Confucian social philosophies. The cultural expectation to embody deference, accept suffering, and emphasize personal sacrifice is magnified for Korean women. If Korean women are subject to heightened role expectations favoring sacrifice and stoicism, this may be associated with a gender-ethnicity interaction that more strongly interferes with help-seeking.

# Church can play an important role in creating a supportive community environment. There

are hundreds of Korean faith institutions in the Bay Area, and more than half of Bay Area Koreans are associated with one or more of them. Our study confirmed the importance of local faith institutions as spaces where people connect, share information, and provide resources. Faith institutions, in particular, shape opinions and attitudes about mundane matters of daily life and more significant issues touching the lives of immigrants – where to send children to school; how to negotiate challenges of cultural divides among the generations; and, for those courageous enough to tell, what to do about abuse and violence. Thus the faith institution could as easily be an environment that excuses, tolerates, or even promotes violence against women and children. Under such unsupportive environment, it would be hard for women experiencing violence look towards their faith community for help. Situations can be complicated as the church provides ministry to those perpetrating the violence as well as those experiencing the violence. If these community spaces could be places that no longer tolerated violence, then survivors of violence could find comfort, support and safety to nurture gender equity and healthy and respectful relationships, allowing the community to achieve a greater goal – the prevention of violence.

#### Trusted and Private Networks through Community Health Workers are Less

Stigmatizing and More Accessible. Our survey showed Family and Friends as the largest resource with whom people exposed to violence can confide, as they are socially-isolated. Women may fear further isolation if they become visible by seeking help contacting IPV service organization directly. This is in line with our helpline experience in the last 15 years, that a majority of IPV reporting was initially made by proxy, and it often took months to years for a survivor to come forward, seeking help and taking actions. To address this issue, establishing a field of trained Community Health Workers, consisting of community members that can be friends and family of potential victims is critical.

#### Lack of Culturally Appropriate Programs/

*Sustainability.* Even though our study was Korean population focused, we have anecdotally witnessed a high prevalence of IPV in other Asian populations in the last 15 years, as KCCEB has one of very few culturally appropriate IPV programs in the Bay Area, providing service to other Asian populations. In spite of high prevalence, there are only a handful of programs providing adequate services to Asian populations in the Bay Area, KCCEB being the only Korean program north of Los Angeles. In spite of the fact that a large portion of victims choose not to go to shelter, a majority of local funding goes to shelter-based agencies, through formula funding mechanisms, rendering case management services that lack a shelter ineligible for local and regional funding. This poses sustainability challenges for nonshelter based programs.

#### *IPV Practices tend to follow specific schools of thought, however, IPV is a complex problem that requires collaboration across sectors and*

*philosophies.* There are many competing theories about the causes of violence; one researcher identified thirteen major theoretical approaches, each with their own multiple sub-theories (Wortley, 2008). Under the shared goal of ending IPV, there are different types of programs with varying degrees of efficacy. The theoretical framework behind these programs can be broadly categorized as feminist/socio cultural, social learning theorybased intergenerational transmission, and psychological. **Duluth model** sees the primary cause of domestic violence as patriarchal ideology and societal sanctioning of men's power and control over women (Pence & Paymar, 1993). Intergenerational model posits that observing violence in one's family of origin creates ideas and norms about how, when, and toward whom aggression is appropriate. Early studies found a high frequency of violence in the families of

origin of domestically violent men (Gayford, 1975; Rosenbaum & O'Leary, 1981; Roy, 1977; Straus, Gelles, & Steinmetz, 1980). Psychological *theories* of DV perpetration examine individual factors. Dutton (2006) summarized these as personality disorders, neurobiological factors, disordered or insecure attachment, developmental psychopathology, cognitive distortions, and posttraumatic symptoms. A majority of culturally appropriate programs uses shelter-advocacy approaches, working with victims of domestic violence, rooted in strong feminist traditions, driving from the Duluth model. The model calls for mandatory arrest when there are bruises or other evidence of physical abuse, and court mandated Duluth Domestic Abuse Intervention Program's 26week men's group sessions on power and control. Despite being the most widely used approach for treating domestic violence in the last 30 years, the body of research on the Duluth Model is mixed at best, showing minimal effect on DV recidivism (Miller, Drake, & Nafziger, 2013). However, advocacy interventions for victims of IPV result in increased feelings of safety and support and some short-term reductions in violence (Stover, Meadows, Kaufman, 2008).

Some risk factors to be examined. Factors for perpetration include: financial stress, witnessing IPV as a child, childhood physical abuse, childhood sexual abuse, parent-child boundary violations (e.g., seductive behaviors, peer-like relationship, or child as parental caretaker), poor monitoring in late childhood (male perpetration only), negative emotionality (e.g., anxiety, anger, hostility), conduct disorder, antisocial behavior (males), suicide attempts (men), suicide attempt history, alcohol and drug use, hostile attributions, generation of aggressive responses, and positive evaluation of aggressive responses. Social isolation has been studied in a limited scope as a risk factor for perpetration and victimization, and correspondingly some research suggests that quality of friendship and social support are protective factors against perpetration and victimization of IPV. Couple conflict and satisfaction, for all types of unions, has also found to be a strong proximal risk factor for IPV. (Moore, Stratford, Caal, Hanson, Hickman, Temkin, Schmitz, Thompson, Horton, & Shaw, 2015).

#### **Citizenship and Civic Engagement**

Over 14,000 Korean immigrants are eligible for U.S. Citizenship in the Bay Area, which is 13% of total Bay Area Asian immigrants eligible for U.S. Citizenship. Santa Clara County has the largest number of Korean immigrants eligible (6,559) to naturalize, followed by Alameda County (2,756), San Francisco (1,476), Contra Costa (1,263), and San Mateo (1,038). It is crucial to lower the barriers to naturalization by disseminating information on practical benefits of naturalization, as well as where Koreans could receive assistance in the process.

## Language and unfamiliarity with the U.S. political system are the largest barriers. With

regard to barriers that Korean immigrants face in becoming U.S. citizens, more than half of the participants in the survey indicated a lack of access to English as a second language and citizenship classes (51%), indicating language barrier as the top barrier to citizenship. Lack of education and unfamiliarity with the U.S. political system was the second major barrier (36%) to becoming U.S. Citizen, followed by unemployment and job issues (20%), lack of time and access to alternative childcare (15%), strong ties to home country (15%), and lack of transportation (5%). The participants who answered "Other" mentioned racism, cost, property in Korea, and inability to have dual citizenship as barriers to becoming U.S. citizens.

Language barrier is the most notable challenge to obtaining U.S. Citizenship among Korean immigrants. Koreans that have limited English skills tend to wait to become eligible for the language exemption in naturalization, by waiting until they become 50 years old and 20 years from becoming a legal permanent resident. Considering naturalized immigrants have better economic outcomes than their non-citizen counterparts, the fact that many working-age immigrants wait long years to become naturalized mainly due to the language barrier is a huge disadvantage that needs be resolved. Furthermore, English proficiency is important for immigrants' social integration and their economic assimilation (Kim, 2003). From the perspective of intergenerational mobility, as immigrants fare better, their economic success will impact future generations, by investing more in their children to lay the groundwork for their socioeconomic success in the future.

Improving English language proficiency will have multiple effects. Not only will it help the immigrants become naturalized much sooner, but it will enable them to become more assimilated

and economically productive. In United States, currently 19.2 million working-age people (ages between 16 and 64), are considered LEP; at the same time, virtually all of the growth in the U.S. labor force over the next four decades is projected to come from immigrants and their children (Wilson, 2014). As the future growth in the U.S. labor force depends strongly on the immigrant families, it is clear that immigrants' economic success will have a significant positive effect on U.S. economy. This reveals the critical need to invest in increasing English proficiency for immigrants and their families with LEP, so they could become naturalized earlier and provide a greater contribution to the American economy moving forward.

Bay Area Koreans generally consider voting as a benefit of U.S. Citizenship, but are largely unaware of their civil rights and health and social benefits as a U.S. Citizen. In terms of civic engagement, about a quarter (25%) of the Korean survey participants who identified themselves as U.S. Citizens were not registered to vote. More than two-thirds of the total participants were not aware of Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) eligibility (68%) and not aware of the women's health provisions under the ACA (68%). Awareness of patients' rights under the ACA was also low, with almost half of the participants (47%) reporting a lack of familiarity. Two-fifths of participants (40%) answered that they do not trust the government always, most, or some of the time. Regarding the advantages of U.S. citizenship, more than half of the participants chose voting rights as the number one benefit (58%), followed by traveling abroad without the need for visas

or restrictions on length of stay (49%), access to government programs and assistance (41%), access to government jobs (30%), and holding elective office (23%). Participants who answered "Other" (12%) mentioned retirement benefits, access to an education opportunity, financial aid, an employment opportunity, and protection of citizens.

#### Korean churches can play an important role in community engagement. When participants

were asked about involvement with groups or organizations, almost half (46%) answered that they were involved in a church, followed by Korean school (9%), and dry cleaners associations (4%). The remaining participants mentioned various Korean-related and non-Korean-related community groups. Faith-based institutions, in particular, shape opinions and attitudes about mundane matters of daily life and more significant issues touching the lives of Korean immigrants: where to send children to school, how to negotiate challenges of cultural divides among the generations, and how civic engagement can help them individually and collectively. Korean churches should be key partners in any programs serving Korean immigrants.

#### Koreans have a sizable undocumented

*population.* There are about 230,000 undocumented Koreans living in United States (out of a total of 11.2 million undocumented immigrants nationally), which makes them one of the three largest Asian undocumented immigrant populations in the country, and also the seventh largest undocumented immigrant population nationwide (Baker and Rytina, 2013). Within Alameda, Contra Costa, San Francisco, Santa Clara, and San Mateo counties, there are approximately about 419,000 undocumented immigrants, and around 43,000, or more than 10% of them are eligible for DACA (Migration Policy Institute, 2015). Given that San Francisco-Oakland-Fremont area and San Jose-Sunnyvale-Santa Clara are two of the top ten Metropolitan Areas with the highest concentrations of Korean immigrants (Zong and Batalova, 2014), it is reasonable to assume that a significant number of undocumented Koreans live in these areas. According to a report in the Korea Times, nearly a third of the estimated 600 students at University of California, Berkeley, with either indeterminate or undocumented immigration status, are from Korea (Schurmann, 2011). It is noteworthy that despite the significant number of undocumented individuals in the Korean population, the community itself seems to have a low awareness of the issue. Within our survey participants, 68% of them showed unfamiliarity with DACA, even though a number of undocumented populations can benefit from it. Undocumented Koreans are very difficult to reach, with challenges in identifying them, and their reluctance to come forward due to stigma and fear of exposure. Hence it is crucial to raise the overall awareness and sense of acceptance within the general community, so these undocumented and underserved individuals. can feel safe to seek help.



## **Part 3. Discussion**

#### **Strengths**

Our needs assessment surveys capture geographically specific information in the local counties that is helpful to local agencies in terms of design of programs and policies. It also was able to draw in a vulnerable population of older adults with limited English proficiency and higher reported chronic conditions. In this way it complements the population-based CHIS data which California luckily has but which cannot be used to give geographic samples for small populations. We were also able to mobilize the community in voicing their needs as we conducted interviews during the period of unprecedented community outreach for Affordable Care Act enrollments. Nevertheless, the data presented here are not meant to be generalized to an overall population.

#### Limitations

Our needs assessment surveys used convenience sampling. Accordingly, it is important to juxtapose these local data against the statewide sample in California Health Interview Survey (CHIS), a statewide random-digit dial telephone survey with data every two years that includes sub-samples of Korean Americans and weights that allow for generalizability to the larger Korean population. While acknowledging the limitations of convenience sampling, we drew comparisons with CHIS data in order to see how our sample is different from the CHIS Korean sample. It is not possible to generalize to a larger population using data from convenience samples but we can describe characteristics of the individuals who participated in the local needs assessment survey. Accordingly, we have local data to help inform our recommendations below.

#### **Health Literacy**

- Lack of Korean language physicians and other healthcare providers is one of the largest barriers to healthcare access.
   Therefore, Covered CA should expand provider networks to include bilingual Korean healthcare professionals;
- Federal, state and local governments need to create meaningful public-private partnerships that value Korean-serving community-based organizational (CBO) partnerships. This includes contracting with Korean CBOs who can provide expertise in initial planning and development of culturally and linguistically appropriate health educational materials and ensuring proper translation from English into Korean and other languages, rather than relying on the current ad hoc system of using third party translation agencies and then requesting pro bono post-translation validation from CBOs;
- Expand collaboration beyond traditional Western health care and partner with alternative systems of healthcare (e.g., acupuncture, traditional Asian medicine) in conjunction with primary care; also expand coverage to include alternative healthcare services;
- Create federal and state funding streams to support building of a community health workers (CHW) network beyond clinical setting, based on the empowerment model to improve health literacy. CHWs are fundamentally different from support staff who provide assistance to healthcare professionals in a clinical setting. As CHWs are most

effective in facilitating self-directed change, investing in them will lead to community capacity development and empowerment of Korean patients to successfully navigate the American healthcare system;

- Since Internet/smartphones are the primary source of health information for Koreans, explore easy-to-use Korean apps that provide accurate and reliable health information and instructions for accessing and utilizing the healthcare system;
- A comprehensive community assessment of barriers and facilitators to cancer screenings for Koreans is needed to understand the gaps and provide recommendations on effective strategies and messages to increase the awareness about the value of cancer screenings in the Korean community. cancer screening in the Korean community.

#### **Mental Health**

Increase Mental Health Service Utilization and decrease Stigma by:

- Diversifying access points or "front doors" beyond community behavioral health clinics. "Front doors" should be patient/consumer defined, friendly and non-stigmatizing; Consider integrating a holistic approach to care based on cultural definitions of health and pathology – including traditional healing practices that do not separate the mind, body and spirit;
- Increasing efficacy of Prevention and Early Intervention (PEI) funding by 1) employing

## **Part 4. Recommendations**

culturally relevant innovative strategies that engage in attitude change via participatory process and experiential learning; 2) diversifying investment to communitybased organizations and other relevant entities beyond traditional mental health service providers; Hiring in-language staff and conducting traditional outreach is current approach by most service providers, that is a simple solution to a complex problem and insufficient strategy; Diversification and investment is likely to include:

> Community Based Organizations that have track record for successful community engagement with wide reach

- for different sectors, and in changing
- behaviors and attitude Faith-based organizations Community Health Workers: support building of a community health workers (CHW) network beyond clinical setting, based on the empowerment model to improve service utilization. CHW is fundamentally different from support staff that provides assistance to healthcare professional in clinical setting. They are most effective in facilitating self-directed change leading to community capacity development and empowering Korean to successfully take ownership in recognizing issues and developing willingness to seek care non-threatening way.
- Providing systems for collaboration between traditional mental health service providers and innovative engagement agencies; no innovation and real collaboration happens

when service providers are in comfort zone to continue their old practices with sustained funding;

- Modifying eligibility requirements to include cultural manifestations of symptoms to meet medical necessity;
- Considering high internet usage by Koreans including low income and some elderly, consider utilization of technology for dissemination of mental health information among Koreans; consider piloting tele-health models for behavioral health care to address the lack of Korean-speaking mental health professionals and privacy related to stigma; such technology enables culturally and linguistically competent clinicians the ability to extend their reach into isolated communities; Use mobile health technologies such as text messaging or apps to support those with mental health needs.

Increase efficacy of funding decision by:

 Reducing disparities by collecting disaggregated data to accurately capture the mental health and service needs of various AANHPI communities including Korean community, by supporting culturally appropriate outcome measurements, and by providing continuous resources to validate culturally appropriate programs.

#### Tobacco

Achieve Tobacco-Related Health Equity Among Priority API Populations by:

- Institutionalizing health equity by investing in collection of disaggregated data to look at unique ethnic communities like Korean Americans;
- Empowerment-based approaches are important in reducing tobacco disparities and should focus particularly on building the capacity of marginalized communities to engage more in policy, systems and environmental approaches to tobacco control (Tong and Lew 2013);
- Regulating secondhand smoke as a toxic air contaminant. Adopt additional policies to minimize the health impacts of second-hand smoke exposure and other environmental toxins;
- Funding priority populations to implement evidence-based, culturally and linguistically relevant intervention and prevention strategies; Currently there's no funding to support smoke free environment through culturally relevant intervention and prevention programs in the Bay Area Korean community, while there are promising evidencebased, culturally and linguistically relevant intervention and prevention strategies, such as family and social network-based, utilizing Community Health Workers;
- Investing in priority populations' advocacy and leadership efforts; maintaining robust local partnerships between tobacco control experts with cultural and linguistic

competence, researchers, grassroots organizations, advocates and policy experts that support effective program implementation;

- Integrating social norm change and population-based approaches and interventions in tobacco control program efforts and design;
- Acting locally to protect residents from tobacco-related harms without waiting for state and federal legislative and regulatory processes;
- Supporting initiatives that encourage all healthcare professionals to use every patient encounter to screen for tobacco use and encourage tobacco cessation;
- Monitoring e-cigarette use in the Korean community, particularly among youth, but also among former and current smokers; working with culturally competent CBOs and advocacy organizations for smokefree policies advocating for: 1) preventing under age use/ setting an age to be allowed to purchase e-cigs, 2) extending smokefree zones to include e-cigarettes; and 3) expanding school-related policies;
- Increasing adoption and enforcement of local policies that regulate the sale, distribution, and marketing of tobacco products, investing in community activity to work with merchants, store owners and/or grocery associations to support and comply with regulations on not selling tobacco products (e.g. to minors).

#### **Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors**

Risk for heart disease and stroke can be reduced. A broad range of investments need to be made in Korean American communities, including building capacity for cardiovascular risk reduction in community organizations located in our Bay area communities.

- Increase adoption and enforcement of local policies that tax sweetened products such as sweetened sugar beverages, and regulate the sale, distribution, and marketing of sweetened sugar products, investing in community activity to work with merchants, store owners and/or grocery associations to support healthier food product options;
- Tobacco smoking cessation and second hand smoke reduction is critical. Identify and support effective and culturally-appropriate tobacco control strategies and programs to maximize the impact among Korean populations with high tobacco use rates and minimize exposure to second-hand smoke;
- Conduct culturally-specific community-based interventions to promote healthy lifestyles, including community-wide campaigns, social support interventions, school-based physical activity programs, and environmental and policy approaches such as safe neighborhoods for walking, which seems to be popular;
- Develop and train community health workers as front-line public health workers who serve as a bridge between communities and healthcare systems to prevent cardiovascular diseases and promote healthy living;

community health workers can also be trained as health coaches for conditions such as hypertension and diabetes to increase adherence;

- Promote effective interactions between healthcare and community interventions via CBOs with direct contact and trusted networks in our Korean community; faithbased interventions have had success in other communities and should be examined as one venue for interventions (smoking cessation, empowerment around secondhand smoke reduction, measurement of blood pressure, potentially other screenings);
- More research in Korean Americans is needed in areas such as blood pressure control, cholesterol epidemiology, and prevention in youth (physical activity, tobacco resistance, healthy diets).

#### **Women's Health**

Achieve Health Equity among Korean American women by:

- Investing in community and capacity building in operationalizing culturally competent and gender sensitive programs; use evidence to guide decision-making, and evidence-based data to model best practices for educating and empowering Korean women;
- Identifying and supporting effective and culturally appropriate women's empowerment programs and practices to lower women's exposure to second-hand smoke, to increase cancer screening rates, and to improve self-



- Integrating social norm change and population-based approaches and interventions in program efforts and design; diversify and innovate community engagement strategies to create supportive community environments;
- Reducing disparities by collecting disaggregated data to accurately capture the needs of minority women populations, by supporting culturally appropriate gender specific outcome measurements, and by providing continuous resources to validate culturally appropriate programs;
- Investing in creating opportunities for participation in diverse workforce development including Community Health Workers, capitalizing on the inherent roles and talent of minority women in their culture as a caretaker; providing leadership development and technical assistance;
- Ensuring API women in the community are represented at decision-making processes locally;
- Incorporating health equity, language access, cultural competency and women/gender sensitivity standards in all public and private healthcare practices and personnel policy.

#### **Intimate Partner Violence**

- Support research to identify direct variables of culturally sensitive services that reduce IPV risk factors; Research suggests that culturally sensitive services targeting at-risk families and children can mitigate the effects of intimate partner violence and reduce risk factors of violence perpetration (Wortham, 2014). There is a gap, however, in available, especially well-evaluated, culturally-tailored services;
- Assess the effectiveness of proven and promising programs for diverse cultural groups; track outcomes for longer time periods; and assess the implications of combining programs for individuals or within a community;
- Support Community Engagement and Education through faith-based networks; develop more community-based education programs, utilizing frameworks from evidence-based effective models;
- Create less stigmatizing and safe environment to increase help seeking by developing trusted networks via Community Health Workers, and by increasing front door access through social and health service centers;
- Promote collaboration between shelteradvocacy practices and more effective perpetrator programs that may reduce recidivism;
- Interventions targeting children and adolescents should continue to be developed and rigorously evaluated, particularly those that are culturally-tailored (there is a substantial gap in dating violence and healthy



relationship interventions for LGBT youth);

- Promote collaborative interventions and preventions across education, health, justice and community sectors, working at the level of individuals, the family, schools, and communities;
- Establish local task groups to develop and evaluate best practices to ensure culturally sensitive care for this vulnerable population of abused women;
- Collect disaggregated API data wherever possible;
- Ensure adequate linguistic access for IPV victims or survivors through collaboration with culturally specific services;
- Consider developing and offering community programs, e.g., healthy relationship workshops to build the foundation for nonviolent relationships.

#### **Citizenship and Civic Engagement**

Low naturalization rates have important implications in political integration, because the greatest barriers to immigrants' political participation, especially in elections, are gaining citizenship and registering to vote after becoming a citizen. Improving the efficacy of the naturalization program requires greater investments in culturally and linguistically competent and comprehensive civic engagement track programs:

- Integrate naturalization services with direct civic education and outreach to the Korean immigrant community regarding procedures and benefits of becoming naturalized, with focus in the areas that are culturally relevant and applicable to them;
- Support more Korean-serving communitybased organizations to become legitimate immigrant legal resources to provide accurate information on naturalization process and provide language classes that assist even limited English Proficient Koreans to become U.S. Citizens;
- Track newly-naturalized Korean U.S. Citizens to raise their political awareness by having practical workshops that support Korean community members to become informed voters through education on how to register to vote, GOTV (Get Out the Vote) events, and voting parties; tailor these workshops to different local groups, age groups, and target audiences;
- Collaborate with local faith-based organizations to hold naturalization and political education workshops, as well as the

voting parties. The outreach efforts should target various groups within a congregation using different communication strategies for each group: youth group, young adult group, senior group, etc. They are at different levels of political awareness and are incentivized by different factors to civically engage.

The most common barriers preventing Asian American Dreamers (including Koreans) from applying to DACA are no different than those with other eligible youth. However, the prevailing stigma against undocumented immigrants in Asian American communities has been particularly difficult to overcome. Community leaders, ethnic media reporters, and Dreamers emphasize that undocumented Asian American immigrants face a greater level of shame in their communities, because undocumented immigration issues are not widely discussed, nor are they covered by ethnic media. Many adults are reluctant to have their children come forward to seek deferred status. fearing that it could bring shame to the family and heighten the risk of deportation to other family members. To promote success of Asian Americans including Koreans to be aware of and apply to DACA, funders should prioritize community education and outreach by:

 Investing in organizations with strong connections to the target Korean and other Asian American populations and ethnic enclaves, including individuals living in the informal economy ready to coordinate grassroots education and outreach activities, and capable of shaping and influencing community views on undocumented immigrants and immigration reform;

- Working with educators, parent associations, and school boards at high schools and community colleges; developing faith leaders as validators of the DACA/immigrant service program; and building partnerships with consulate offices of Korean and other select Asian countries;
- Supporting creative multi-media strategies, combining ethnic media for much larger audience of potential beneficiaries, their family members, and broader Asian American communities who are digitally connected, with consistent and compelling messages. Engage additional partners for effective social media strategies;
- Engaging the undocumented Korean and other Asian immigrants and empowering them to raise their voice within the community, to advocate for their rights at the policy level, and to become leaders, activists, and supporters. Dreamers and their families are impactful messengers for immigration reform, immigrant integration, and immigrant rights, and they would benefit from projects designed to build their organizing skills;
- Increasing research on the undocumented population: encourage partnership with researchers to better understand the Korean and other Asian undocumented immigrant groups. This type of information could help create a richer population profile, identify needs, and improve outreach tactics and services.



- Alba, I. D. (2005). Impact of U.S. Citizenship Status on Cancer Screening Among Immigrant Women. *Journal of General Medicine*, 20(3), 290-296.
- American Heart Association. (2013). Asian & Pacific Islanders and Cardiovascular Diseases: Statistical Fact Sheet. Retrieved July 23, 2015 from

http://www.heart.org/idc/groups/heart-public/@wcm/@sop/@smd/documents/downloadable/ucm\_319570.pdf

- An, N., Cochran, S., Mays, V., & McCarthy, W. (2008). Influence of American acculturation on cigarette smoking behaviors among Asian American subpopulations in California. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, *10*(4), 579-587.
- Aoki, Y., Yoon, S., Chong, Y., & Carroll, M. (2014). Hypertension, Abnormal Cholesterol, and High Body Mass Index Among Non-Hispanic Asian Adults: United States, 2011–2012. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.
- Asian & Pacific Islander American Health Forum. (2014). *Improving the Road to ACA Coverage: Lessons Learned on Outreach, Education, and Enrollment for Asian American, Native Hawaiian, and Pacific Islander Communities.* http://www.apiahf.org/sites/default/files/2014.10.14\_Improving%20the%20Road%20to%20ACA%20Coverage\_National%20Report.pdf. Retrieved December 3, 2015.
- Asian & Pacific Islander American Health Forum. (2015). *Health Care Access.* Retrieved May 17, 2015 from http://www.apiahf.org/policy-and-advocacy/focus-areas/health-care-access
- Asian & Pacific Islander American Vote (AAPI), & Asian Americans Advancing Justice (AAJC). (2014). Left, Right, or Center? Asian American Voters in 2014. Retrieved July 31, 2015.
- Asian Pacific American Legal Center & Asian American Justice Center. (2011). *Community of Contrasts Asian Americans in the United States: 2011.* Washington, DC: Asian American Center for Advancing Justice.
- Baker, D. W., Wolf, M. S., Feinglas, J., & Thompson, J. A. (2008). Health literacy, cognitive abilities, and mortality among elderly persons. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *23*(6), 723-726.
- Baker, D. W., Parker, R. M., Williams, M. V., Ptikin, K., Parikh, N. S., Coates, W., & Imara, M. (1996).The health care experience of patients with low literacy. *Archives of Family Medicine*, 5(6), 329–334.
- Baker, B., & Rytina, N. (2013). *Estimates of the Unauthorized Immigrant Population Residing in the United States: January 2012.* Retrieved from Department of Homeland Security:
  - http://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/ois\_ill\_pe\_2012\_2.pdf
- Barrett, S. E., Puryear, J. S., & Westpheling, K. (2008). *Health literacy practices in primary care settings: Examples from the field.* New York, NY: The Commonwealth Fund.
- Baxi, R., Sharma, M., Roseby, R., Polnay, A., Priest, N., Waters, E., ... Webster, P. (2014). Family and carer smoking control programmes for reducing children's exposure to environmental tobacco smoke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 2014(3), 1-107.
- Berkman, N. D, DeWalt, D. A., Pignone, M.P., Sheridan, S.L., Lohr, K.N., Lux, L., ..Bonito, A. J. (2004). *Literacy and health outcomes (AHRQ Publication No. 04-E007-2)*. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
- Black, M.C. (2011). Intimate partner violence and adverse health consequences: Implications for clinicians. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 5(5), 428–439.
- Bradshaw, C.K. (1994). Asian and Asian American women: Historical and political considerations in psychotherapy. In L. Comas-Diaz, & B. Greene (Eds.), Women of color: Integrating ethnic and gender identities in psychotherapy. New York: Guilford Press.
- Breiding, M.J., Black, M.C., & Ryan, G.W. (2008). Chronic disease and health risk behaviors associated with intimate partner violence—18 U.S. states/territories, 2005. *Annals of Epidemiology*, *18*(7), 538–544.



California Department of Public Health (CDPH). (2015a). *California Tobacco Control Program, California Tobacco Facts and Figures 2015,* Sacramento, CA. Retrieved Feb 6, 2014 from:

http://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/tobacco/Documents/Resources/Fact%20Sheets/2015FactsFigures-web2.pdf.

California Department of Public Health (CDPH). (2015b). Death Data Files 2005-2010. California Department of Public Health [Data file]. Retrieved May 17, 2015 from: https://www.cdph.ca.gov/data/dataresources/requests/Pages/DeathDataFiles.aspx.

California Department of Public Health (CDPH). (2008). Cancer Mortality-Race/Ethnic Group [Data file]. Sacramento, California: California Department of Public Health. Retrieved May 17, 2015, from: http://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/ohir/Pages/Cancer2010Race.aspx

California Department of Public Health (CDPH), & California Tobacco Control Program (CTCP). (2015). California Tobacco Facts and Figures 2015. Sacramento, CA: California Department of Public Health.

- California Health Interview Survey. (2001). CHIS 2001 Health Profiles: Korean Ethnic Group [Data file]. Los Angeles, CA: UCLA Center for Health Policy Research. Retrieved May 17, 2015 from http://healthpolicy.ucla.edu/chis/data/Pages/GetCHISData.aspx
- California Health Interview Survey. (2003). CHIS 2003 Health Profiles: Korean Ethnic Group [Data file]. Los Angeles, CA: UCLA Center for Health Policy Research. Retrieved May 17, 2015 from http://healthpolicy.ucla.edu/chis/data/Pages/GetCHISData.aspx

California Health Interview Survey. (2005). CHIS 2005 Health Profiles: Korean Ethnic Group [Data file]. Los Angeles, CA: UCLA Center for Health Policy Research. Retrieved May 17, 2015 from http://healthpolicy.ucla.edu/chis/data/Pages/GetCHISData.aspx

California Health Interview Survey. (2007). CHIS 2007 Health Profiles: Korean Ethnic Group [Data file]. Los Angeles, CA: UCLA Center for Health Policy Research. Retrieved May 17, 2015 from http://healthpolicy.ucla.edu/chis/data/Pages/GetCHISData.aspx

California Health Interview Survey. (2009). CHIS 2009 Health Profiles: Korean ethnic Group [Data file]. Los Angeles, CA: UCLA Center for Health Policy Research. Retrieved May 17, 2015 from http://healthpolicy.ucla.edu/chis/data/Pages/GetCHISData.aspx

California Health Interview Survey. (2012). CHIS 2011-2012 health profiles: Korean ethnic Group [Data file]. Los Angeles, CA: UCLA Center for Health Policy Research. Retrieved May 17, 2015 from http://healthpolicy.ucla.edu/chis/ata/Pages/GetCHISData.aspx

Callinan, J. E., Clarke, A., Doherty, K., & Kelleher, C. (2010). Legislative smoking bans for reducing secondhand smoke exposure, smoking prevalence and tobacco consumption. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 2010(4), 1-126.

Caraballo, R. S., Yee, S. L., Gfroerer, J. & Mirza, S. (2008). Adult tobacco use among racial and ethnic groups living in the United States 2002-2005. *Preventing Chronic Disease: Public Health Research, Practice, and Policy, 5*(3), 1-6.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2003). Costs of intimate partner violence against women in the United States. Atlanta, GA: CDC, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2007). *Secondhand Smoke.* Retrieved July 14, 2013 from http://www.cdc.gov/datastatistics/archive/second-hand-smoke.html



Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2013). *Detailed Tables for the National Vital Statistics Report (NVSR)* [Table 1]. In Deaths: Final Data for 2013. Retrieved June 17, 2015 from:

http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr64/nvsr64\_02.pdf

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2013). *QuickStats: Number of Deaths from 10 Leading Causes— National Vital Statistics System, United States, 2010.* (62(08);155.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2015). *Secondhand Smoke (SHS) Facts.* Retrieved July 27, 2015, from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention:

http://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data\_statistics/fact\_sheets/secondhand\_smoke/general\_facts/index.htm

- Chan, S. S., Wong, D. C., & Lam, T. H. (2013). Will mothers of sick children help their husbands to stop smoking after receiving a brief intervention from nurses? Secondary analysis of a randomised controlled trial. BMC Pediatr, 13(50), 1-9.
- Chi, Y. C., Wu, C. L., Chen, C. Y., Lyu, S. Y., Lo, F. E., & Morisky, D.E. (2015). Randomized trial of a secondhand smoke exposure reduction intervention among hospital-based pregnant women. *Addictive Behaviors, 41,* 117-123.
- Chiswick, B. R. (2008). The Economics of Language: An Introduction and Overview (IZA DP No. 3568). Retrieved July 31, 2015 from Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA): http://repec.iza.org/dp3568.pdf
- Chiswick, B. R., & Miller, P.W. (2003). The complementarity of language and other human capital: Immigrant earnings in Canada. *Economics of Education Review, 22*(5), 469-480.
- Colby, S. L. & Ortman, J. M. (2015). *Projections of the Size and Composition of the U.S. Population: 2014 to 2060. Current Population Reports.* Washington, DC: U.S. Census Bureau.
- Crofford, L.J. (2007). Violence, stress, and somatic syndromes. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse,* 8, 299–313.
- Davis, T. C., Wolf, M.S., Bass, P.F. III, Middlebrooks, M., Kennan, E., Baker, D.W.,... Parker, R.M. (2006a). Low Literacy impairs comprehension of prescription drug warning labels. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 21(8), 847-851.
- Denecke, K., Krieck, M., Otrusina, L., Smrz, P., Dolog, P., Nejdl, W., & Velasco, E. (2013). How to exploit Twitter for public health monitoring? *Methods Inf Med*, *52*(4), 326-339.
- Doyal, L. (2000). Gender Equity in Health: Debates and Dilemmas. Social Science & Medicine, 51(6), 931-939.
- Dutton, D.G. & Corvo, K. (2006). Transforming a flawed policy: A call to revive psychology and science in domestic violence research and practice. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 77(5), 457–483.
- Echeverria, S. E., & Carrasquillo, O. (2006). The roles of citizenship status, acculturation, and health insurance in breast and cervical cancer screening among immigrant women. *Medical Care, 44*(8), 788-792.
- Forman-Hoffman, V. L., Muhuri, P. K., Novak, S. P., Pemberton, M. R., Ault, K. L. & Mannix, D. (2014).
  Psychological distress and mortality among adults in the U.S. Household population. Rockville, Maryland: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Retrieved May 17, 2015, from http://www.samhsa. gov/data/sites/default/files/CBHSQ-DR-C11-MI-Mortality-2014/CBHSQ-DR-C11-MI-Mortality-2014.html
- Gayford, J. (1975). Wife battering: A preliminary survey of 100 cases. British Medical Journal, 1, 195–197.
- Gee, G., & Ponce, N. (2010). Associations Between Racial Discrimination, Limited English Proficiency, and Health-Related Quality of Life Among 6 Asian Ethnic Groups in California. *American Journal of Public Health*, *100*(5), 888-895.
- Gomez, S. L., Noone, A. M., Lichtensztain, D. Y., Scoppa, S., Gibson, J. T., Liu, L., ... Miller, B.A. (2013). Cancer incidence trends among Asian American populations in the United States, 1990-2008. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 105*(15), 1096-1110.



- Hastings, K. G., Jose, P. O., Kapphahn, K. I., Frank, A. T., Goldstein, B. A., Thompson C. A., ... Palaniappan, L. P. (2015) Leading Causes of Death among Asian American Subgroups (2003–2011). *PLoS ONE, 10*(4), e0124341. http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0124341
- Hofstetter, C., Irvin, V., Schmitz, K., Hovell, M., Nichols, J., Kim, H., ... Lee, J. (2008). Demography of exercise among Californians of Korean descent: A cross-sectional telephone survey. *Immigrant Minor Health*, *10*(1), 53-65.
- Husten, C. G. (2009). How should we define light or intermittent smoking? Does it matter? *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, *11*(2), 111-121.
- Idler, E. L. & Angel, R. J. (1990). Self-rated health and mortality in the NHANES-I epidemiologic follow-up study. *American Journal of Public Health, 80*(4), 446-452.
- Idler, E. L. & Benyamini, Y. (1997). Self-rated health and mortality: A review of twenty-seven community studies. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 38*(1), 21-37.
- International Diabetes Federation. (2001). *Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease: Time to Act*. Retrieved May 20, 2015 from: http://www.idf.org/webdata/docs/Diabetes%20and%20CVD.pdf
- Jang, Y., Kim, G. & Chiriboga, D. (2005). Health, healthcare utilization, and satisfaction with service: Barriers and facilitators for older Korean Americans. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 53*(9), 1613-1617.
- Jang, Y., Kim, G., Hansen, L., & Chiriboga, D. A. (2007). Attitudes of older Korean Americans toward mental health services. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society,* 55(4), 616-620.
- Jo, K. H. & Doorenbos, A. Z. (2009). Types of survival attitudes among first-generation Korean immigrants in the United States: Q-methodological approach. *Journal of Korean Academy of Adult Nursing, 21*(6), 603-616.
- Jose, P., Frank, A., Kapphahn, K., Goldstein, B., Eggleston, K., Hastings, K., ... Palaniappan, L. (2014). Cardiovascular Disease Mortality in Asian Americans. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 64(23), 2486-2494.
- Juon, H. S., Seung-Lee, C., & Klassen, A. C. (2003). Predictors of Regular Pap Smears among Korean-American Women. *Preventive Medicine*, 37(6), 583-592.
- Juzych, M.S., Randhawa, S., Shukairy, A., Kaushal, P., Gupta, A., & Shalauta, N. (2008). Functional health literacy in patients with glaucoma in urban settings. *Archives of Ophthalmology*, *126*(5), 718-724.
- Kim, I. S. (1981). *New urban immigrants: The Korean community in New York.* Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Kim, J. (2003). Education, English Language Proficiency, And Earnings of Male Immigrants in The U.S. Labor Market. *Journal of Business and Economics Research*, 1(3), 17-26.
- Kim, K., Kim, B., Choi, E., Song, Y. & Han, H. (2015). Knowledge, perceptions, and decision making about human papillomavirus vaccination among Korean American women: A focus group study. *Women's Health Issues, 25*(2), 112-119.
- Kim, M., Juon, H., Hill, M., Post, W., & Kim, K. (2001). Cardiovascular disease risk factors in Korean American elderly. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 23(3), 269–282.
- Kim, S., & Rew, L. (1994). Ethnic Identity, Role Integration, Quality of Life, and Depression in Korean-American Women. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing, 8*(6), 348-356.
- Kim, S. S., Kim, S., Seward, G., Fortuna, L., & McKee, S. A. (2013). Korean American Women's Experiences with Smoking and Factors Associated with Their Quit Intentions. *ISRN Addict, 2013*.



- Kin, K. C., Lin, B., Chaung, K. T., Ha, N. B., Trinh, H. N., Garcia, R. T., ... Nguyen, M. H. (2013). Less-established risk factors are common in Asian Americans with hepatitis C virus: A Case-Controlled study. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 58(11), 3342-3347.
- King, B. A., Patel, R., Nguyen, K. H., & Dube, S. R. (2015). Trends in awareness and use of electronic cigarettes among US adults, 2010-2013. *Nicotine Tob Res, 17*(2), 219-227.
- Koh, K. B. (1998). Perceived Stress, Psychopathology, and Family Support in Korean Immigrants and Nonimmigrants. *Yonsei Medical Journal*, 39(3), 214-1998.
- Kumanyika, S. K., Morssink, C. B., & Nestle, M. (2001). Minority Women and Advocacy for Women's Health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *91*(9), 1383-1388.
- Lee, A. H. (2008). A pilot intervention for pregnant women in Sichuan, China on passive smoking. *Patient Educ Couns, 71*(3), 396-401.
- Lee, C., Ayers, S. L. & Kronenfeld, J. J. (2009). The association between perceived provider discrimination, health care utilization, and health status in racial and ethnic minorities. *Ethnicity & Disease, 19*(3), 330-337.
- Lee, H. J., Kazinets, G. & Moskowitz, J. M. (2006). 2002 Korean American community health survey: Alameda and Santa Clara counties. Berkeley, CA: Center for Family and Community Health, Asian Health Services.
- Lee, H. Y., Moon, A. & Knight, B. G. (2004). Depression among elderly Korean immigrants: Exploring socio-cultural factors. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work, 13*(4), 1-26.
- Lee, S., Sobal, J., & Frongillo, E. A. (2000). Acculturation and Health in Korean Americans. *Social Science & Medicine*, 51(2), 159-173.
- Lee, Y., Hofstetter, C. R., Irvin, V. L., Kang, S., Chhay, D., Reyes, W. D., & Melbourne F. Hovell. (2012). Korean American Women's Preventive Health Care Practices: Stratified Samples in California, U.S. *Health Care Women International*, 33(5), 422-439.
- Leong, F. T. L., Wagner, N. S., & Kim, H. H. (1995). Group counseling expectations among Asian American students: The role of culture-specific factors. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *42*(2), 217–222.
- Leserman, J., & Drossman, D.A. (2007). Relationship of abuse history to functional gastrointestinal disorders and symptoms. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse*, *8*, 331–343.
- Li, S., Kwon, S. C., Weerasinghe, I. Rey, M. J., & Trinh-Shevrin, C. (2013). Smoking among Asian Americans: acculturation and gender in the context of tobacco control policies in New York City. *Health Promot Pract, 14(5 suppl),* 18S-128S.
- Loke, A. Y., & Lam, T. H. (2005). A randomized controlled trial of the simple advice given by obstetricians in Guangzhou, China, to non-smoking pregnant women to help their husbands quit smoking. *Patient Educ Couns*, 59(1), 31-37.
- Ma, G. X., Tan, Y., Fang, C. Y., Toubbeh, J. I., & Shive, S. E. (2005). Knowledge, Attitudes, and Behavior regarding Secondhand Smoke among Asian Americans. *Preventive Medicine*, *41*(2), 446-453.
- Malek, A. M., Cushman, M., Lackland, D. T., Howard, G., & McClure, L.A. (2015) Secondhand smoke exposure and stroke: The Reasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) Study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.04.014
- Marmot, M., & Syme, S.L. (1976). Acculturation and coronary heart disease in Japanese-Americans. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 104(3), 225-247.
- Matt, G., Quintana, P., Destaillats, H., Gundel, L., Sleiman, M., Singer, B., ... Hovell, M. (2011). Thirdhand tobacco smoke: emerging evidence and arguments for a multidisciplinary research agenda. *Environmental Health Perspective, 119*, 1218-1226.

- Max, W., Rice, D.P., Finkelstein, E., Bardwell, R.A., & Leadbetter, S. (2004). The economic toll of intimate partner violence against women in the United States. *Violence and Victims.* 19(3), 259–272.
- Maxwell, A. E., Bastani, R., & Warda, U.S. (2000). Demographic Predictors of Cancer Screening among Filipino and Korean Immigrants in the United States. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 18*(1), 62-68.
- McCracken, M., Olsen, M., Chen, M. S., Jemal, A., Thun, M., Cokkinides, V., Deapen, D., Ward, E. (2007). Cancer Incidence, Mortality, and Associated Risk Factors Among Asian Americans of Chinese, Filipino, Vietnamese, Korean, and Japanese Ethnicities. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, *57*(4), 190-205.
- Migration Policy Institute (MPI). (2015). Unauthorized Immigrant Population Profiles [Press release]. Retrieved July 31, 2015 from http://www.migrationpolicy.org/programs/us-immigration-policy-program-data-hub/unauthorized-immigrant-population-profiles
- Miller, M., Drake, E., & Nafziger, M. (2013). *What works to reduce recidivism by domestic violence offenders?* (Document No. 13-01-1201). Olympia, WA: Washington State Institute for Public Policy.
- Min, P. G. (1996). *Caught in the Middle: Korean Merchants in America's Multiethnic Cities.* Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Moon, A., & Tashima, N. (1982). *Help-seeking behavior and attitudes of Southeast Asian refugees*. San Francisco, CA: Pacific Asian Mental Health Research Project.
- Moore, K., Stratford, B, Caal, S., Hanson, C., Hickman, S., Temkin, D., ... Shaw, A. (2015). *Preventing violence: A review of research, evaluation, gaps and opportunities.* Bethesda, MD: Child Trends. Retrieved from http://www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/2015-15FuturesWithoutViolence1.pdf
- Moritsugu, J., & Sue, S. (1983). Minority Status as a Stressor. In R. D. Felner & L. Jason, J. Moritsugu, & S. Farber (Eds.), *Preventive Psychology: Theory, Research, and Practice* (pp. 162-174). New York, NY: Pergamon.
- Mucha, L., Stephenson, J., Morandi, N. & Dirani, R. (2006). Meta-analysis of disease risk associated with smoking, by gender and intensity of smoking. *Gender Medicine*, *3*(4), 279-291.
- Mui, A. C., & Kang, S. Y. (2006). Acculturation stress and depression among Asian immigrant elders. *Social Work, 51*(3), 243-255.
- National Asian Women's Health Organization. (2002). Silence, not an option! San Francisco, CA: NAWHO.
- National Comorbidity Survey. (2015). Kessler Psychological Distress Scale 10 and Kessler Psychological Distress Scale 6 Scales. Retrieved May 19, 2015, from http://www.hcp.med.harvard.edu/ncs/k6\_scales.php
- National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism. (2015). Drinking Levels Defined. Retrieved May 18, 2015, from http://www.niaaa.nih.gov/alcohol-health/overview-alcohol-consumption/moderate-binge-drinking
- Nielsen-Bohlman, L., Panzer, A. M., & Kindig, D. A. (Eds.). (2004). *Health literacy: A prescription to end confusion.* Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Nutbeam, D. (2000). Health literacy as a public health goal: A challenge for contemporary health education and communication strategies into the 21st century. *Health Promotion International*, *15*(3): 259-267.
- Öberg, M., Jaakkola, M. S., Woodward, A., Peruga, A. & Prüss-Ustün, A. (2011). Worldwide burden of disease from exposure to second-hand smoke: a retrospective analysis of data from 192 countries. *The Lancet, 377*(9760), 138-146.
- Palaniappan, L., Araneta, M., Assimes, T., Barrett-Connor, E., Carnethon, M., Criqui, M., ... Wong, N. (2010). Call to Action: Cardiovascular Disease in Asian Americans: A Science Advisory From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 122(12), 1242-1252.



- Pandya, C., Batalova, J. & McHugh, M. (2011). *Limited English Proficient Individuals in the United States: Number, Share, Growth, and Linguistic Diversity.* Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute. Retrieved from: http://www.migrationpolicy.org/sites/default/files/publications/LEPdatabrief.pdf
- Pang, K. Y. C. (1990). Hwabyung: The construction of a Korean popular illness among Korean elderly immigrant women in the United States. *Culture, Medicine, and Psychiatry, 14,* 495–512.
- Parikh, N. S., Parker, R. M., Nurss, J. R., Baker, D. W., & Williams, M. V. (1996). Shame and health literacy: The unspoken connection. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *27*(1), 33–39.
- Park, S., Murphy, S., Sharma, S., & Kolonel, L. (2005). Dietary intakes and health-related behaviours of Korean American women born in the USA and Korea: The Multiethnic Cohort Study. *Public Health Nutrition, 8*(7), 904-911.
- Parker, R. (2000). Health literacy: A challenge for American patients and their health care providers. *Health Promotion International*, 15(4), 277–283.
- Pastor, M. & Scoggins, J. (2012). *Citizen Gain: The Economic Benefits of Naturalization for Immigrants and the Economy.* Los Angeles, CA: Center for the Study of Immigrant Integration (CSII).
- Pence, E., & Paymar, M. (1993). Education groups for men who batter: The Duluth Model. New York: Springer.
- Raj, A., & Silverman, J.. (2002). Violence Against Immigrant Women: The Roles of Culture, Context, and Legal Immigrant Status on Intimate Partner Violence. *Violence Against Women, 8*(3), 367-398.
- Rogers, E. S., Wallace, L. S., & Weiss, B. D. (2006). Misperceptions of medical understanding in low-literacy patients: Implications for cancer prevention. *Cancer Control.* 13(3), 225–229.
- Rogler, L., Malgady, R., & Rodriguez, D. (1989). *Hispanics and Mental Health: A framework for research*. Malabar, FL: Krieger.
- Rosenbaum, A. & O'Leary, K. (1981). Marital violence: Characteristics of the abusive couple. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 49, 63–71.
- Rothman, R. L., Housam, R., Weiss, H., Davis, D., Gregory, R., Gebretsadik, T., ... Elasy, T. A. (2006).
  Patient understanding of food labels: The role of literacy and numeracy.
  *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *31*(5), 391-398.
- Roy, M. (1977). Battered Women. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Ryan, C. (2013). Language Use in the United States: 2011. In U.S. Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration. (Ed.), *American Community Survey Reports.* Washington, DC: U.S. Census Bureau.
- Ryu, S. Y., Crespi, C. M., & Maxwell, A. E. (2013). What factors explain disparities in mammography rates among Asian-American immigrant women? A population-based study in California. *Womens Health Issues, 23*(6), 403-410.
- Schurmann, P. (2011). Undocumented and Koreans at UC Berkeley. *New America Media*, 15 Retrieved July 31, 2015 from: http://newamericamedia.org/2011/08/undocumented-and-korean-at-uc-berkeley.php
- Sentell, T., & Braun, K. L. (2012). Low health literacy, limited English proficiency, and health status in Asians, Latinos, and other racial/ethnic groups in California. *Journal of Health Communication, (17)*3, 82-99.
- StataCorp. (2013). Stata statistical software: Release 13. College Station, TX: StataCorp Lp.
- Stover, C.S., Meadows, A.L., & Kaufman, J. (2009). Interventions for intimate partner violence: Review and implications for evidence-based practice. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 40(3), 223–233.
- Straus, M.A., Gelles, R.J., & Steinmetz, S. (1980). *Behind closed doors: Violence in the American family.* Garden City, NY: Anchor Press/Doubleday.
- Szklo, A. S. & Coutinho, E. S. (2009). Vulnerability and self-perceived health status among light and heavy smokers: The relationship to short-term fear appeal tobacco control messages. *Cadernos De Saude Publica, 25*(7), 1534-1542.

- Tillman, K. H. (2009). Nativity Status and Depressive Symptoms among Hispanic Young Adults: The Role of Stress Exposure. *Social Science Quarterly, 90*(5), 1228-1250.
- Tracey, T. J., Leong, F. T. L., & Glidden, C. (1985). Help seeking and problem perception among Asian Americans. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 33(3), 331–336.
- Triandis, H. C. (1988). Collectivism and development. In D. Sinha & H. Kao (Eds.), *Social values and development: Asian perspectives* (pp. 285-303). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Tsoh, J. Y., Burke, N. J., Gildengorin, G., Wong, C., Le, K., Nguyen, A.,... Nguyen, T. T. (2015a). A social network familyfocused intervention to promote smoking cessation in Chinese and Vietnamese American male smokers: A feasibility study. *Nicotine Tob Res, 17*(8), 1029-1038.
- Tsoh, J. Y., Kim, J. K., Lee, J., & Cheng, J, K, Y. (2015b, November). Disparities in secondhand smoke exposure in homes among nonsmokers in California. Poster session presented at the 143rd Annual Meeting and Exposition of the American Public Health Association, Chicago, IL. Retreieved from https://apha.confex.com/apha/143am/webprogram/Paper330323.html
- Tsoh, J. Y., Wong, C., Le, K., Gildengorin, G., Nguyen, A., Chan, J. L., ... & McPhee, S. J. (2013).Mobilizing smokers and their families to promote smoking cessation in Chinese and Vietnamese Men: A Pilot Study. *Ann Behav Med*, 45(2), S252.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2000). Census 2000 Summary File 4 [Data file]. Retrieved May 17, 2015, from http://www.census.gov/census2000/SF4/html
- U. S. Census Bureau. (2012). Census 2010 Summary File 1 [Data file]. Retrieved May 17, 2015, from http://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/doc/sf1.pdf
- U. S. Census Bureau. (2013). 2011-2013 American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates [Data file]. Retrieved May 17, 2015, from http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?src=bkmk
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2014). *American Community Survey: 2011-2013*. Retrieved April 29, 2015 from http://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2014/cb14-tps80.html
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2015a). ACS Demographic and Housing Estimates: 2009-2013 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates. Retrieved August 7, 2015 from http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?src=bkmk
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2015b). Annual Estimates of the Resident Population by Sex, Race Alone or in Combination, and Hispanic Origin for the United States, States, and Counties: April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2014. Retrieved from U.S. Census Bureau, Population Division.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). (2006). *The Health Consequences of Involuntary Exposure to Tobacco Smoke: A Report of the Surgeon General.* Retrieved July 14, 2013 from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US).
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). (2010). *How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: What It Means to You*. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). (2014). *The Health Consequences of Smoking*—50 Years of *Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General*. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). (2015). *Limited English Proficiency.* Retrieved Apr. 29, 2015 from: http://www.hhs.gov/ocr/civilrights/resources/specialtopics/lep/
- U.S. Department of Justice (2011). *Crime in the United States, 2010.* Washington, DC: Federal Bureau of Investigation, Uniform Crime Reports.



U.S. Department of Labor (2015). Employment 2012 and projected 22, by typical entry-level education and training assignment. Retrieved April 29, 2015 from http://www.bls.gov/emp/ep\_table\_education\_summary.htm

Vega, W. A., & Rumbaut, R. G. (1991). Ethnic Minorities and Mental Health. *Annual Review of Sociology, 17,* 351-383.

Vernon, J. A., Trujillo, A., Rosenbaum, S., & DeBuono, B. (2007). *Low health literacy: Implications for national policy*. Washington, D.C.: Center for Health Policy Research, George Washington University.

Walsh, E. T. (2010). Inequalities in Self-Rated Health: Untangling Ethnicity, Social Class, and Lifestyle Effects on the Vietnamese, Other Asians, Hispanics, and Whites. *International Review of Modern Sociology, 36*(2), 195-220.

Ware, J. E., Kosinski, M. & Keller, S. D. (1996). A 12-item short-form health survey: Construction of scales and preliminary tests of reliability and validity. *Medical Care, 34*(3), 220-233.

Wilson, E., Chen, A. H., Grumbach, K., Wang, F., & Fernandez, A. (2005). Effects of Limited English Proficiency and Physician Language on Health Care Comprehension. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *20*(9), 800–806.

Wilson, J. H. (2014). *Investing in English Skills: The Limited English Proficient Workforce in U.S. Metropolitan Areas.* Washington, D.C.: Metropolitan Policy Program at Brookings.

Wolf, M. S., Davis, T. S., Tilson, H. H., Bass, P. F., & Parker, R. M. (2006). Misunderstanding of prescription drug warning labels among patients with low literacy. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 63(11), 1048-1055.

Wolf, M. S., Williams, M. V., Parker, R. M., Parikh, N. S., Nowlan, A. W., & Baker, D. W. (2007). Patients' shame and attitudes toward discussing the results of literacy screening. *Journal of Health Communication*, *12*(8), 721–732.

World Health Organization (WHO), & Ministry of Health, Tonga. (2012). *Health Services Delivery Profile, Kingdom of Tonga*. Retrieved from: http://www.wpro.who.int/health\_services/service\_delivery\_profile\_tonga.pdf

World Health Organization (WHO). (2001). Mental Health: Call for Action by World Health Ministers.

World Health Organization (WHO). (2000). Mental health and work: Impact, issues and good practices.

Wortham, T.T. (2014). Intimate partner violence: Building resilience with families and children. *Reclaiming Children* and *Youth*, 23(2), 58–61.

Wortley, S. (2010). *The review of the roots of youth violence: Volume 5. Literature review*. Toronto: Queen's Printer for Ontario. Retrieved from:

http://www.children.gov.on.ca/htdocs/English/topics/youthandthelaw/roots/volume5/index.aspx

Yi, Y. J., Stvilia, B., & Mon, L. (2012). Cultural Influences on Seeking Quality Health Information: An Exploratory Study of the Korean Community. *Library & Information Science Research*, *34*(1), 45-51.

Yoon, I. J. (1997). *On My Own: Korean Businesses and Race Relations in America.* Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Yoon, I. J. (2012). Migration and the Korean diaspora, a comparative description of five cases. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 38*(3), 413-435.

Zhu S. H., Cummins, S. E., Wong, S., Gamst, A. C., Tedeschi, G. J., & Reyes-Nocon, J. (2012). The Effects of a Multilingual Quitline for Asian Smokers: A Randomized Trial. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 104*(4), 299-310.

Zhu S. H., Stretch, V., Balabanis, M., Rosbrook, B., Sadler, G. & Pierce, J.P. (1996). Telephone counseling for smoking cessation: Effects of single-session and multi session intervention. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 64(1), 202-211.

Zhu, S. H., Wong, S., Stevens, C., Nakashima, D., & Gamst, A. (2010). Use of a Smoker's Quitline by Asian Language Speakers: Results from 15 Years of Operation in California. *Am J Public Health, 100*(5), 846-852.

Zong, J., & Batalova, J. (2014) Korean Immigrants in the United States. Retrieved July 31, 2015 from http://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/korean-immigrants-united-states



A Community Foundation





This report was made possible by the following sponsors: Asian Pacific Fund, Koret Foundation, and

Korean American Community Foundation of San Francisco.

The statements and views expressed are solely the responsibility of the authors.